
   
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
 

* * * 
 

CLAYTON CITY COUNCIL 
 
 
 

* * * 
 
 

TUESDAY, January 21, 2020 
 
 

7:00 P.M. 
 

Hoyer Hall, Clayton Community Library 
6125 Clayton Road, Clayton, CA 94517 

 
 
 

Mayor:  Julie K. Pierce 
Vice Mayor: Jeff Wan 

 
Council Members 

Tuija Catalano 
Jim Diaz 

Carl Wolfe 
 
 
 

• A complete packet of information containing staff reports and exhibits related to each public item 
is available for public review in City Hall located at 6000 Heritage Trail and on the City’s Website 
at least 72 hours prior to the Council meeting. 

 
• Agendas are posted at: 1) City Hall, 6000 Heritage Trail; 2) Library, 6125 Clayton Road; 3) Ohm’s 

Bulletin Board, 1028 Diablo Street, Clayton; and 4) City Website at www.ci.clayton.ca.us 
 
• Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the City Council after distribution of the 

Agenda Packet and regarding any public item on this Agenda will be made available for public 
inspection in the City Clerk’s office located at 6000 Heritage Trail during normal business hours. 

 
• If you have a physical impairment that requires special accommodations to participate, please call 

the City Clerk’s office at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting at (925) 673-7304. 
 

http://www.ci.clayton.ca.us/
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* CITY COUNCIL * 
January 21, 2020 

 
 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER  AND ROLL CALL – Mayor Pierce. 
 
 
 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – led by Mayor Pierce. 
 
 
 
 

3. CONSENT CALENDAR 
Consent Calendar items are typically routine in nature and are considered for approval by one 
single motion of the City Council.  Members of the Council, Audience, or Staff wishing an item 
removed from the Consent Calendar for purpose of public comment, question, discussion or 
alternative action may request so through the Mayor. 

 

(a) Approve the minutes of the City Council’s regular meeting of January 7, 2020. 
(City Clerk) (View Here) 

 

(b) Approve the Financial Demands and Obligations of the City. (Finance Manager) 
(View Here) 
 

(c) Accept the Resignations of Four Trails and Landscape Committee Members. 
(City Clerk) (View Here) 

 
(d) City Council to Set Appeal Hearing, Date, Time and Location for Appeals of the 

Planning Commission’s Decisions Regarding the Olivia at Marsh Creek Project 
pursuant to Clayton Municipal Code section 17.68.030 (No discussion on the 
appeals and/or the project will occur as part of this agenda item). (City Manager) 
(View Here) 

 
 

4. RECOGNITIONS AND PRESENTATIONS  
 

(a) Certificates of Recognition to public school students for exemplifying the “Do the 
Right Thing” character trait of “Kindness” during the months of November and 
December 2019. (Mayor) (View Here) 

 
(b) Proclamation “Recognizing the Importance of and is Committed to Renewable 

Energy”. (Mayor) (View Here) 
 
 
 
 

5. REPORTS 

(a) Planning Commission – Chair Cloven. 
(b) Trails and Landscaping Committee – No meeting held. 
(c) City Manager/Staff 
(d) City Council - Reports from Council liaisons to Regional Committees,  
   Commissions and Boards.  
(e)  Other   
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6. PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON - AGENDA ITEMS 
Members of the public may address the City Council on items within the Council’s jurisdiction, 
(which are not on the agenda) at this time. To facilitate the recordation of comments, it is 
requested each speaker complete a speaker card available on the Lobby table and submit it 
in advance to the City Clerk. To assure an orderly meeting and an equal opportunity for 
everyone, each speaker is limited to 3 minutes, enforced at the Mayor’s discretion. When 
one’s name is called or you are recognized by the Mayor as wishing to speak, the speaker 
should approach the public podium and adhere to the time limit. In accordance with State 
Law, no action may take place on any item not appearing on the posted agenda. The Council 
may respond to statements made or questions asked, or may at its discretion request Staff to 
report back at a future meeting concerning the matter. 
 
Public comment and input on Public Hearing, Action Items and other Agenda Items will be 
allowed when each item is considered by the City Council. 

 
 
 
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS – None.  
 
 
 
 

8. ACTION ITEMS  
 
(a) Audited Annual Financial Report of the City of Clayton for the Fiscal Year Ended 

June 30, 2019. (Mr. John Cropper, CPA) (View Here)  
 
 

(b) Discuss and Consider Opposing Senate Bill 50 Regarding Planning, Zoning, and 
Housing Development Incentives. (Vice Mayor Wan) (View Here) 

 
 
 
 

9. COUNCIL ITEMS – limited to Council requests and directives for future 
meetings. 

 
 
 
 

10. CLOSED SESSION – None. 
   
 
 
  

11. ADJOURNMENT 
The next regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council will be February 4, 2020. 

 
#  #  #  #  # 
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  MINUTES 
OF THE 

REGULAR MEETING 
CLAYTON CITY COUNCIL 

 
TUESDAY, January 7, 2020 

  
 
1. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL – The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. by 

Mayor Pierce in Hoyer Hall, Clayton Community Library, 6125 Clayton Road, Clayton, 
CA. Councilmembers present: Mayor Pierce, Vice Mayor Wan and Councilmembers 
Catalano, Diaz and Wolfe. Councilmembers absent: None. Staff present: City Manager 
Ikani Taumoepeau, and City Clerk/HR Manager Janet Calderon. 

 
 
 
2. COUNCIL INTERVIEW OF PLANNING COMMISSION APPLICANTS  

 
The City Council separately interviewed three (3) candidates who had applied for 
appointment to the City Planning Commission: 
 

James Porter 
Alan Zee 

Terri Denslow 
 
 

RECESS: The City Council took a short recess from 6:58 – 7:04 p.m. 
 
 

 

7:00 P.M.  REGULAR PUBLIC MEETING 
 
 
3. RECALL TO ORDER THE CITY COUNCIL – The meeting was recalled to order at 7:04 

p.m. by Mayor Pierce in Hoyer Hall, Clayton Community Library, 6125 Clayton Road, 
Clayton, CA. Councilmembers present: Mayor Pierce, Vice Mayor Wan and 
Councilmembers Catalano, Diaz and Wolfe. Councilmembers absent: None. Staff 
present: City Manager Ikani Taumoepeau, City Attorney Mala Subramanian, and City 
Clerk/HR Manager Janet Calderon. 

 
 
 
4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – led by Mayor Pierce. 
 
 Mayor Pierce welcomed and introduced our new City Manager Ikani Taumoepeau. 
 

City Manager Taumoepeau expressed his gratitude for this opportunity and introduced 
his family to the community. 
 
Mayor Pierce also introduced Robert Casey as Clayton’s representative to the County 
Connection Citizen Advisory Committee. 
 
Mr. Casey is honored to be appointed as he is a frequent user of public transportation. 
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5. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

It was moved by Councilmember Catalano, seconded by Vice Mayor Wan, to 
approve the Consent Calendar as submitted.  (Passed; 5-0 vote). 

 
(a) Approved the minutes of the regular meeting of December 17, 2019. 
 
(b) Approved Financial Demands and Obligations of the City. 
 
(c) Appointed Robert Casey as Clayton’s representative to the County Connection Citizen 

Advisory Committee for a 2-year term expiring January 31, 2022. 
 
 
 
6. RECOGNITIONS AND PRESENTATIONS – None. 
 
 
 
7. REPORTS 
 
(a) Planning Commission – No meeting held.  
 
(b) Trails and Landscaping Committee – No meeting held.  
 
(c) City Manager/Staff –  
 
 City Manager Taumoepeau welcomed Kelsey Wiggins, Clayton’s newest Police Officer.  

He also announced three (3) vacancies on the Trails and Landscaping Committee; 
noting application deadline is January 10, 2020.  

  
(d) City Council - Reports from Council liaisons to Regional Committees,  
   Commissions and Boards.  
 
 Councilmember Catalano indicated “No Report”.  
 
 Vice Mayor Wan indicated “No Report”. 
 

Councilmember Wolfe attended the Clayton Business and Community Association 
Annual Tree Lighting and was a MC at the Volunteer Appreciation event, met with a 
constituent, and attended the East Contra Costa Habitat Conservancy meeting in 
Pittsburg.  

 
Councilmember Diaz attended the farewell luncheon for David Woltering Interim 
Community Development Director, assisted the Clayton Business and Community 
Association Christmas decoration take down, and announced the recent passing of 
former Clayton Police Officer Randy Simon who resided in Oklahoma. 

 
Mayor Pierce attended the Contra Costa Transportation Authority meeting, the 
Association of Bay Area Governments Housing Methodology Committee meeting, the 
Marsh Creek Trail Committee meeting, the reception for the Board of Realtors, the 
reorganization luncheon for the Board of Supervisors, and announced sponsor letters 
will be mailed out soon for the upcoming Concerts in The Grove.   
 

 
(e)  Other – None. 
 
 
 
8. PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON - AGENDA ITEMS – None. 
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9. PUBLIC HEARINGS – None. 
 
 
 
10. ACTION ITEMS  
 
(a)  City Council discussion and determination of citizen appointments to one vacated term 

of office on the City Planning Commission (term expires June 30, 2020).  
 
 Mayor Pierce indicated earlier this evening the City Council interviewed three candidates 

James Porter, Alan Zee and Terri Denslow, who had applied for the one vacant position 
on the City Planning Commission.  Mayor Pierce explained the voting process, indicating 
whichever candidate receives three votes will be appointed.  

 
Mayor Pierce opened matter for public comments; no comments were offered.  
 
Councilmember Catalano nominated James Porter and Terri Denslow for appointment to 
the Planning Commission. 
 
Councilmember Wolfe also nominated Terri Denslow for appointment to the Planning 
Commission. 
 
Councilmember Diaz also nominated Terri Denslow for appointment to the Planning 
Commission. 
 
Vice Mayor Wan nominated James Porter and Alan Zee for appointment to the Planning 
Commission. 

 
Mayor Pierce expressed support for all candidates, and nominated Terri Denslow for 
appointment to the Planning Commission.   

 
 It was moved by Councilmember Diaz, seconded by Councilmember Wolfe, to 

approve Resolution No. 01-2020 appointing Ms. Terri Denslow to the office on the 
Clayton Planning Commission, with a term of office to expire June 30, 2020. 
(Passed 4-1 vote; Wan, no). 

 
 
 
11. COUNCIL ITEMS  
 

Councilmember Catalano inquired on the scheduling of the setting of the annual Council 
Goal Setting Session. 
 
Vice Mayor Wan requested the City Council discuss and take a position of opposition on 
the re-introduction of SB 50 be placed on the next City Council agenda.  

 
 
 
12. CLOSED SESSION – None. 
 
 
 
13. ADJOURNMENT– on call by Mayor Pierce, the City Council adjourned its meeting at 

7:41 p.m. 
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The next regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council will be January 21, 2020. 
 

    
    #  #  #  #  # 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
________________________________ 
Janet Calderon, City Clerk 
           

  APPROVED BY THE CLAYTON CITY COUNCIL    
 
 

      ______________________________________ 
             Julie Pierce, Mayor 
 
 

#  #  #  #  # 
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STAFF REPORT 
 
TO:  HONORABLE MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS 
 
FROM: JENNIFER GIANTVALLEY, ACCOUNTING TECHNICIAN 
 
DATE: January 21, 2020 
 
SUBJECT: FINANCIAL DEMANDS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE CITY 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended the City Council, by minute motion, approve the financial demands and 
obligations of the City for the purchase of services and goods in the ordinary course of 
operations. 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Attachments:   

1. Open Invoice Report, dated 1/14/20  (4 pages) 
2. Cash Requirements report  PPE 1/12/20  (1 page) 

Attached Report Purpose Date Amount
Open Invoice Report Accounts Payable 1/14/2020 176,702.85$            
Cash Requirements Report Payroll, Taxes 1/15/2020 86,001.05                

262,703.90$            Total Required
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Open Invoice Report

Obligations

Vendor Name Due Date Date Invoice Number Invoice Description Balance Discount Expires On Net Amount Due

Invoice DiscountPotentialInvoice

Ace Sierra Tow

1/3/2020 1/3/2020
59140 Evidence tow to CH

$85.00 $0.00 $85.00 
Ace Sierra Tow

$85.00 $0.00 $85.00 
Totals for Ace Sierra Tow:

Jose Aceves

1/9/2020 1/9/2020
BP97-19 Deposit refund

$2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 
Jose Aceves

$2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 
Totals for Jose Aceves:

Advanced Elevator Solutions, Inc

1/1/2020 1/1/2020
38134 Elevator service

$124.00 $0.00 $124.00 
Advanced Elevator Solutions, Inc

$124.00 $0.00 $124.00 
Totals for Advanced Elevator Solutions, Inc:

All City Management Services, Inc.

12/31/2019 12/31/2019
65741 School crossing guard svcs 12/15/19-12/28/19

$658.80 $0.00 $658.80 
All City Management Services, Inc.

12/18/2019 12/18/2019
65575 School crossing guard svcs 12/1/19-12/14/19

$1,317.60 $0.00 $1,317.60 
All City Management Services, Inc.

$1,976.40 $0.00 $1,976.40 
Totals for All City Management Services, Inc.:

American Fidelity Assurance Company

1/14/2020 1/10/2020
2059793 FSA PPE 1/12/20

$83.07 $0.00 $83.07 
American Fidelity Assurance Company

$83.07 $0.00 $83.07 
Totals for American Fidelity Assurance Company:

Big O Tires

1/14/2020 1/14/2020
005011-162617 Tires '11 F250

$1,045.79 $0.00 $1,045.79 
Big O Tires

$1,045.79 $0.00 $1,045.79 
Totals for Big O Tires:

Caltronics Business Systems, Inc

12/30/2019 12/30/2019
2940140 Copier usage 11/30/19-12/29/19

$850.43 $0.00 $850.43 
Caltronics Business Systems, Inc

$850.43 $0.00 $850.43 
Totals for Caltronics Business Systems, Inc:

Cintas Corporation

1/3/2020 1/3/2020
4039166001 PW uniforms through 1/3/20

$38.44 $0.00 $38.44 
Cintas Corporation

1/9/2020 1/9/2020
4039635522 PW uniforms through 1/9/20

$39.90 $0.00 $39.90 
Cintas Corporation

$78.34 $0.00 $78.34 
Totals for Cintas Corporation:

Cintas Fire Protection

12/20/2019 12/20/2019
OF44719068 CH Fire extinguisher service

$942.04 $0.00 $942.04 
Cintas Fire Protection

12/20/2019 12/20/2019
OF44719070 CH Fire extinguisher service

$768.10 $0.00 $768.10 
Cintas Fire Protection

12/20/2019 12/20/2019
OF44719069 EH Fire extinguisher service

$483.75 $0.00 $483.75 
Cintas Fire Protection

12/20/2019 12/20/2019
OF44719067 Library Fire extinguisher service

$386.83 $0.00 $386.83 
Cintas Fire Protection

$2,580.72 $0.00 $2,580.72 
Totals for Cintas Fire Protection:

City of Concord

12/19/2019 12/19/2019
81910 Printing-envelopes, letterhead

$358.59 $0.00 $358.59 
City of Concord

1/1/2020 1/1/2020
81937 Dispatch services January 2020

$23,256.11 $0.00 $23,256.11 
City of Concord
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Open Invoice Report

Obligations

Vendor Name Due Date Date Invoice Number Invoice Description Balance Discount Expires On Net Amount Due

Invoice DiscountPotentialInvoice

$23,614.70 $0.00 $23,614.70 Totals for City of Concord:

City of Pleasant Hill

1/8/2020 1/8/2020 900007076 Transpac FY 20 $24,969.00 $0.00 $24,969.00 City of Pleasant Hill

$24,969.00 $0.00 $24,969.00 Totals for City of Pleasant Hill:

Clean Street

12/31/2019 12/31/2019 96204 Sweep fee December 2019 $4,500.00 $0.00 $4,500.00 Clean Street

$4,500.00 $0.00 $4,500.00 Totals for Clean Street:

Comcast Business

2/9/2020 1/5/2020 010520 IT services 1/10/20-2/9/20 $386.09 $0.00 $386.09 Comcast Business

$386.09 $0.00 $386.09 Totals for Comcast Business:

Contra Costa County Animal Svcs Dept

1/1/2020 1/1/2020 ASD M6152 Animal control services 1/1/20-3/31/20 $18,246.59 $0.00 $18,246.59 Contra Costa County Animal Svcs Dept

$18,246.59 $0.00 $18,246.59 Totals for Contra Costa County Animal Svcs Dept:

Contra Costa County Department of Conservation & Development

12/31/2019 12/31/2019 2020Q2 Q2FY20 CASP fees $319.60 $0.00 $319.60 Contra Costa County Department of Co

$319.60 $0.00 $319.60 Totals for Contra Costa County Department of Conservation & Development:

Cropper Accountancy Corp

12/31/2019 12/31/2019 1785 Audit work FY19 $4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00 Cropper Accountancy Corp

$4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00 Totals for Cropper Accountancy Corp:

De Lage Landen Financial Services, Inc.

1/15/2020 12/2/2019 65997902 Copier lease 12/15/19-1/14/20 $304.59 $0.00 $304.59 De Lage Landen Financial Services, Inc.

2/15/2020 1/2/2020 66371091 Copier lease 1/15/20-2/14/20 $304.59 $0.00 $304.59 De Lage Landen Financial Services, Inc.

$609.18 $0.00 $609.18 Totals for De Lage Landen Financial Services, Inc.:

Digital Services

1/8/2020 1/8/2020 11517 Router and service by AT&T 2020 $600.00 $0.00 $600.00 Digital Services

12/31/2019 12/31/2019 11518 IT services 12/10/19-1/8/20 $4,745.00 $0.00 $4,745.00 Digital Services

12/9/2019 12/9/2019 11500 IT services 10/26/19-12/9/19 $9,920.00 $0.00 $9,920.00 Digital Services

$15,265.00 $0.00 $15,265.00 Totals for Digital Services:

Division of the State Architect

12/31/2019 12/31/2019 Q2 2020 Q2 2020 CASp fees $37.60 $0.00 $37.60 Division of the State Architect

$37.60 $0.00 $37.60 Totals for Division of the State Architect:

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc

11/30/2019 11/30/2019 181082-12 Open Space fee study November 2019 $1,662.50 $0.00 $1,662.50 Economic & Planning Systems, Inc

$1,662.50 $0.00 $1,662.50 Totals for Economic & Planning Systems, Inc:

Globalstar LLC
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Open Invoice Report

Obligations

Vendor Name Due Date Date Invoice Number Invoice Description Balance Discount Expires On Net Amount Due

Invoice DiscountPotentialInvoice

12/16/2019 12/16/2019 10874554 Sat phone 11/16/19-12/15/19 $108.61 $0.00 $108.61 Globalstar LLC

$108.61 $0.00 $108.61 Totals for Globalstar LLC:

Hammons Supply Company

1/10/2020 1/10/2020 109909 Library janitorial supplies $494.38 $0.00 $494.38 Hammons Supply Company

1/10/2020 1/10/2020 109910 The Grove janitorial supplies $113.66 $0.00 $113.66 Hammons Supply Company

$608.04 $0.00 $608.04 Totals for Hammons Supply Company:

ICMA Retirement Corporation

1/13/2020 1/13/2020 011220 457 contributions PPE 1/12/20 $1,300.00 $0.00 $1,300.00 ICMA Retirement Corporation

1/7/2020 1/7/2020 43654 Annual plan fee 1/1/20-3/31/20 $125.00 $0.00 $125.00 ICMA Retirement Corporation

$1,425.00 $0.00 $1,425.00 Totals for ICMA Retirement Corporation:

LarryLogic Productions

1/8/2020 1/8/2020 1864 City council meeting production 1/7/20 $330.00 $0.00 $330.00 LarryLogic Productions

$330.00 $0.00 $330.00 Totals for LarryLogic Productions:

Charles Levy

1/9/2020 1/9/2020 CAP0307 Deposit refund $2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 Charles Levy

$2,000.00 $0.00 $2,000.00 Totals for Charles Levy:

Mortensen Roofing And Gutters, Inc

1/7/2020 1/7/2020 BP170-19 Deposit refund $1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00 Mortensen Roofing And Gutters, Inc

$1,000.00 $0.00 $1,000.00 Totals for Mortensen Roofing And Gutters, Inc:

Nationwide

1/15/2020 1/13/2020 011220 457 contribution PPE 1/12/20 $500.00 $0.00 $500.00 Nationwide

$500.00 $0.00 $500.00 Totals for Nationwide:

NBS Govt. Finance Group

12/31/2019 12/31/2019 1219000429 Disclosures for 2007 Bonds $2,005.83 $0.00 $2,005.83 NBS Govt. Finance Group

$2,005.83 $0.00 $2,005.83 Totals for NBS Govt. Finance Group:

Occupational Health Centers of California

1/8/2020 1/8/2020 66672900 PW pre-employment exam $288.50 $0.00 $288.50 Occupational Health Centers of Califor

$288.50 $0.00 $288.50 Totals for Occupational Health Centers of California:

Paychex

1/15/2020 1/12/2020 2020011301 Payroll fees PPE 1/12/20 $197.29 $0.00 $197.29 Paychex

1/15/2020 12/31/2019 2020011301 W-2 processing 2019 $408.75 $0.00 $408.75 Paychex

$606.04 $0.00 $606.04 Totals for Paychex:

Riso Products of Sacramento

12/20/2019 12/20/2019 203371 Copier usage 11/20/19-12/19/19 $23.17 $0.00 $23.17 Riso Products of Sacramento

$23.17 $0.00 $23.17 Totals for Riso Products of Sacramento:
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Open Invoice Report

Obligations

Vendor Name Due Date Date Invoice Number Invoice Description Balance Discount Expires On Net Amount Due

Invoice DiscountPotentialInvoice

Site One Landscape Supply, LLC

12/27/2019 12/27/2019 96597686-001 Irrigation control repair $1,801.24 $0.00 $1,801.24 Site One Landscape Supply, LLC

12/27/2019 12/27/2019 96597699-001 Irrigation control repair $660.00 $0.00 $660.00 Site One Landscape Supply, LLC

$2,461.24 $0.00 $2,461.24 Totals for Site One Landscape Supply, LLC:

Sprint Comm (PD)

12/29/2019 12/29/2019 703335311-217 Cell phone 11/26/19-12/25/19 $728.72 $0.00 $728.72 Sprint Comm (PD)

$728.72 $0.00 $728.72 Totals for Sprint Comm (PD):

Staples Business Credit

12/25/2019 12/25/2019 1627169073 Office supplies December 2019 $307.01 $0.00 $307.01 Staples Business Credit

$307.01 $0.00 $307.01 Totals for Staples Business Credit:

Stericycle Inc

1/1/2020 1/1/2020 3004936105 Medical waste disposal January 20 $55.58 $0.00 $55.58 Stericycle Inc

$55.58 $0.00 $55.58 Totals for Stericycle Inc:

US Bank - Corp Pmt System CalCard

12/23/2019 12/23/2019 Stmt end 12/23/19 CalCard Stmt end 12/23/19 $14,136.62 $0.00 $14,136.62 US Bank - Corp Pmt System CalCard

$14,136.62 $0.00 $14,136.62 Totals for US Bank - Corp Pmt System CalCard:

US Bank Ops Center

1/13/2020 1/13/2020 1536768 1990-1 Bond debt service 3/2/20 $42,692.20 $0.00 $42,692.20 US Bank Ops Center

$42,692.20 $0.00 $42,692.20 Totals for US Bank Ops Center:

Verizon Wireless

12/31/2019 12/31/2019 9845361318 Cell phones 12/2/19-1/1/20 $255.39 $0.00 $255.39 Verizon Wireless

$255.39 $0.00 $255.39 Totals for Verizon Wireless:

Wells Fargo Bank (Bond Debt Service)

1/10/2020 1/10/2020 CLAY02032020 Lydia Lane sewer interest 3/2/20 $4,309.89 $0.00 $4,309.89 Wells Fargo Bank (Bond Debt Service)

$4,309.89 $0.00 $4,309.89 Totals for Wells Fargo Bank (Bond Debt Service):

Western Exterminator

12/31/2019 12/31/2019 7668932 Pest control December 2019 $427.00 $0.00 $427.00 Western Exterminator

$427.00 $0.00 $427.00 Totals for Western Exterminator:

$176,702.85 $0.00 $176,702.85 GRAND TOTALS:



CASH REQUIRED FOR NEGOTIABLE CHECKS &/OR ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFERS (EFT) FOR CHECK DATE 01/15/20: $86,001.05

CASH REQUIREMENTS

 0088 1307-5283  City of Clayton 

0088 1307-5283  City of Clayton Cash Requirements
Run Date 01/13/20  04:16 PM Period Start - End Date 12/30/19 - 01/12/20 Page 1 of 2

Check Date 01/15/20 CASHREQ

TRANSACTION SUMMARY

SUMMARY BY TRANSACTION TYPE - 

TOTAL ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER (EFT) 86,001.05
CASH REQUIRED FOR NEGOTIABLE CHECKS &/OR EFT 86,001.05

TOTAL REMAINING DEDUCTIONS / WITHHOLDINGS / LIABILITIES 11,591.54
CASH REQUIRED FOR CHECK DATE 01/15/20 97,592.59

TRANSACTION DETAIL

ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER - Your financial institution will initiate transfer to Paychex at or after 12:01 A.M. on transaction date.

TRANS. DATE BANK NAME ACCOUNT NUMBER PRODUCT DESCRIPTION

BANK DRAFT AMOUNTS

 & OTHER TOTALS

01/14/20 BANK OF AMERICA, NA xxxxxx4799 Direct Deposit Net Pay Allocations 64,907.48
01/14/20 BANK OF AMERICA, NA xxxxxx4799 Direct Deposit Deductions with Direct Deposit 603.50 65,510.98

01/14/20 BANK OF AMERICA, NA xxxxxx4799 Readychex® Check Amounts 528.60 528.60

01/14/20 BANK OF AMERICA, NA xxxxxx4799 Garnishment Employee Deductions 
75.00 75.00

EFT FOR 01/14/20 66,114.58

01/15/20 BANK OF AMERICA, NA xxxxxx4799 Taxpay® Employee Withholdings 
Social Security 405.91
Medicare 1,287.54
Fed Income Tax 9,096.52
CA Income Tax 3,628.01

Total Withholdings 14,417.98
Employer Liabilities 

Social Security 405.91
Medicare 1,287.54
Fed Unemploy 526.73
CA Unemploy 3,160.49
CA Emp Train 87.82

Total Liabilities 5,468.49 19,886.47

EFT FOR 01/15/20 19,886.47

TOTAL EFT 86,001.05
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AGENDA REPORT 
 

TO:  HONORABLE MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS 
 
FROM: Janet Calderon, City Clerk 
 
DATE:  January 21, 2020 
   
SUBJECT: Accept the Resignations of Four Trails and Landscape Committee 

Members 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Accept the resignations of Trails and Landscape Committee Members Carin Kaplan, Ted 
Sudderth, Maryann Carroll Moser, and Howard Kaplan. 
 
DISCUSSION 
Staff notified the incumbents of their terms concluding on December 31, 2019 and 
advertised the vacancies on the City’s website and the three posting boards in town. 
 
Carin Kaplan submitted her written resignation on December 3, 2019. 
 
Maryann Carroll Moser submitted her written resignation on December 30, 2019. 
 
Howard Kaplan submitted his written resignation on January 3, 2020. 
 
The City received written resignation from Ted Sudderth on December 26, 2019, whose 
term was set to expire on December 31, 2020. 
 
The City accepted applications until January 10, 2020 with no applications received. 
 
The Trails and Landscape Committee currently has two active members, which 
unfortunately does not make a quorum.  This committee can have up to eleven members.  
Staff has updated the advertisement to accept applications until filled.  
 
Attachments: Resignation emails from Ms. Kaplan, Mr. Sudderth, Ms. Carroll Moser, and Mr. Kaplan (7 pgs) 
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AGENDA REPORT 
 

TO:  Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 
 
FROM: Ikani Taumoepeau, City Manager 
 
DATE:  January 21, 2020 
   
SUBJECT: City Council to Set Appeal Hearing, Date, Time and Location for Appeals 

of the Planning Commission’s Decisions Regarding the Olivia at Marsh 
Creek Project pursuant to Clayton Municipal Code section 17.68.030 (No 
discussion on the appeals and/or the project will occur as part of this 
agenda item). 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Set appeal hearing, date, time and location for appeals of the Planning Commission’s 
decisions regarding the Olivia at Marsh Creek Project pursuant to Clayton Municipal Code 
section 17.68.030.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The City of Clayton has received four appeals regarding the Planning Commission’s 
decisions regarding the Olivia at Marsh Creek Project.  Clayton Municipal Code section 
17.68.030 requires the City Council to set a public hearing date, time and location on the 
appeals to be heard before itself.  We recommend the City Council schedule the appeals be 
heard at a public hearing to be held before the City Council on February 4th at 7 p.m. at 
Hoyer Hall. We have confirmed that all four appellants are available on this date.  There is 
no other action for the City Council to take at this time, nor shall there by any discussion 
regarding the appeals and/or the project.   
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None. 
 
 
  Attachments:  Appeal 1 (9 pgs) 
   Appeal 2 (40 pgs) 
   Appeal 3 (5 pgs) 
   Appeal 4 (3 pgs) 

 



 
 

Appeal 1 



















 
 

Appeal 2 

















































































 
 

Appeal 3 











 
 

Appeal 4 
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ELISE ROBERTS 
for  

“Doing the Right Thing” 
at 

Mt. Diablo Elementary 
by exemplifying great “Kindness”   
November and December 2019 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

GRACE DESEELHORST 
for  

“Doing the Right Thing” 
at 

Diablo View Middle School 
by exemplifying great “Kindness”   
November and December 2019 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

LILLIAN STRUEMPF 
for  

“Doing the Right Thing” 
at 

Diablo View Middle School 
by exemplifying great “Kindness”   
November and December 2019 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

LUCAS CALICA 
for  

“Doing the Right Thing” 
at 

Clayton Valley Charter High School 
by exemplifying great “Kindness”   
November and December 2019 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

KYLE OHLENDORF-HAWLEY 
for  

“Doing the Right Thing” 
at 

Clayton Valley Charter High School 
by exemplifying great “Kindness”   
November and December 2019 
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Recognizing 

the 

 “Importance of and is Committed to Renewable Energy” 

 

WHEREAS, California ranks first in the nation for solar energy production and 
fourth in the nation for wind power capacity with nearly 32,000 megawatts 
installed, producing enough electricity to power nearly 8 million homes; and 
 
 

WHEREAS, California is home to 106 wind farms, 13 wind-related manufacturing 
facilities, and 2,767 solar-related companies; and 
 
 

WHEREAS, wind powers opportunity in cities and communities all across California, 
resulting in $87.5 million in state and local tax payments; and 
 
 

WHEREAS, solar and wind farms in California have attracted nearly $15 billion 
dollars in investment to date, helping to spur critical investments in communities 
that fund manufacturing jobs, education programs, and local economic development 
projects; and 
 
 

WHEREAS, the development of solar and wind power now supports nearly 81,000 
jobs across the state; and 
 
WHEREAS, the advancements in solar and wind power will greatly enhance our 
ability to attract new businesses and talent to our state and community, and will 
continue to grow as a major force in the U.S. economy. 
 
 

NOW THEREFORE, I, Julie Pierce, Mayor, on behalf of the Clayton City Council, 
do hereby proclaim the City of Clayton recognizes the Importance of and is 
Committed to Renewable Energy and encourage Californians to learn more about 
the benefits of wind and solar energy in our community and celebrate California’s 
leadership in renewable energy production. 
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STAFF REPORT 
 
 

TO:  HONORABLE MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS   

FROM: IKANI TAUMOEPEAU, CITY MANAGER 
  JOHN CROPPER, AUDITOR 
  BRYCE ROJAS, AUDITOR 

DATE:  JANUARY 16, 2018 

SUBJECT: AUDITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE CITY OF CLAYTON FOR THE 
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
By motion, accept the City of Clayton’s Annual Financial Report, including the unmodified opinion of 
the Independent Auditors Report, issued by Cropper Accountancy Corporation for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2019.   
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The City’s independent audit firm, Cropper Accountancy Corporation, has issued their opinion on 
the City of Clayton’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 (FY 2019-20). In 
their opinion:  
 

“the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Clayton, California 
as of June 30, 2019, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, 
cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United states of America.” 

 
It is the responsibility of City management to ensure the financial statements are presented fairly in 
accordance with GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles).  City management is also 
responsible for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls relevant to the 
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preparation and fair presentation of financial statements free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.  The responsibility of the City’s independent auditors it to express opinions on 
the City’s financial statements based on its audit performed in accordance with generally accepted 
audit standards (GAAS) issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) 
as well as generally accepted government auditing standards (GAGAS), or “yellow book” 
standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 
 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
General Fund 
The City’s adopted FY 2019-20 budget projected the City’s General Fund would report a slight 
decrease in fund balance by the close of FY 2018-19, reflecting the planned utilization of 
excess reserves for urgent non-recurring capital and operational needs approved by the City 
Council in four separate actions over the past four years. The audited financials show an 
actual increase in General Fund reserves of $93,674 for the year ended June 30, 2019, 
primarily due to better than expected investment results and unrealized gains on the 
investment portfolio. This results in a total General Fund reserve balance of $5,760,145 as of 
June 30, 2019, of which $5,337,685 (92.7%) is reported as unassigned and available for 
appropriation. This unassigned fund balance is 1.12 times the size of the General Fund’s 
adopted operating budget for the upcoming fiscal year ending June 30, 2020.   
 
Other Governmental Funds 
In the aggregate, excluding the General Fund, the other governmental funds of the City reported a 
net decrease in fund balance totaling $706,472.   
 

• HUTA Gas Tax Fund (No. 201) – The Highway Users Tax Account (HUTA) gas tax fund 
reported a net decrease in fund balance of $45,000 to a total ending fund balance of 
$267,695.  

• RMRA Gas Tax Fund (No. 202) – The Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account 
(RMRA) gas tax fund was established in FY 2017-18 as a result of the State legislature’s 
passing of the Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017, also known as Senate Bill 1 
(SB1).  This fund reported an ending fund balance of $195,645 as of June 30, 2019.   

• Landscape Maintenance District Fund (No. 210) – This fund reported a net increase in fund 
balance of $23,402 to a total fund balance of $1,226,636 as of June 30, 2019.  Pursuant to 
the adopted FY 2019-20 budget, $345,109 of this available fund balance has been assigned 
for the removal of 18 eucalyptus trees in open space areas as well as the downtown planter 
boxes rehabilitation project in FY 2019-20. 

• The Grove Park Fund (No. 211) – This fund reported a net increase of $38,491 in fund 
balance to a total positive ending fund balance of $352,339.  

• Measure J Fund (No. 220) – This fund reported a net decrease in fund balance of $822,676 
to a total ending fund balance of $-165,787.  This decrease in fund balance was primarily 
attributable to certain Capital Improvement Program street projects completion.   
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Endeavor Hall Enterprise Fund 
Consistent with the prior year, the Endeavor Hall rental facility is the City’s only “business-type” 
enterprise fund reported in the CAFR.  The Endeavor Hall fund reported a decrease in net position 
of $33,809.  This resulted primarily from total depreciation expense of $37,000, comprising 63% of 
FY 2018-19 operating expenses.  Overall, this fund reported a positive net position balance of 
$1,037,732, primarily due to capital investment in the rental facility land, property and equipment.  
However, as of June 30, 2019 Endeavor Hall continued to report a deficit unrestricted net position 
arising from several years of deficit operations covered temporarily by short-term General Fund 
cash flow loans.  Going forward, the city must analyze the substantial discounts offered to non-profit 
organizations (up to 80%), for the rental of this facility and determine the proper fee structure 
needed to bring revenues in line with the costs of running the facility. 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements are presented on an “economic resources” 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  Accordingly, and unlike the “modified 
accrual” governmental fund financial statements discussed previously, the government-wide 
statements report long-term assets and liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.  In the long-run, 
increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator or whether the financial 
position of the City of Clayton is improving or weakening.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 
the government-wide net position decreased by $156,132 (-0.03%).   
 
As of June 30, 2019 the City reported total government-wide ending net position of $44,716,135, of 
which the largest portion totaling $29,790,706 (67%), is classified as “net investment in capital 
assets” and is not in liquid form.  $11,915,594 (27%) of total government-wide net position is 
classified as “restricted” representing resources that are subject to external restrictions on how it 
may be used such as restricted special parcel taxes (i.e. The Grove Park and the Landscape 
Maintenance District), restricted transportation taxes (HUTA, RMRA, Measure J, etc.), and other 
restricted-use funds.  The remaining governmental net position of $3,009,835 (6%) is reported as 
“unrestricted” and may be used to meet the ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.     
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The acceptance of the audited financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2019 does not 
have any direct fiscal impact on the City. 
 
 
 

Attachments:   

1. Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and Independent Auditors’ Report for the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

2. Auditors’ Required Communication to Those Charged with Governance Near the End of an Audit (AU-C 260) 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

 

 

To the City Council 

City of Clayton, California 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-

type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Clayton, 

California, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, 

which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

 

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 

the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 

the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 

and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Clayton, California, as of June 30, 2019, 

and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof

 

 for the year 

then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

 

 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 

Discussion and Analysis on pages 4-14, budgetary comparison information on pages 82-84, Schedule of 

Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability on page 85, Schedule of Pension Plan Contributions on 
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page 86, Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios on page 87, and Schedule of 

OPEB Plan Contributions on page 88 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 

information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing 

the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have 

applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 

auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 

management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 

consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 

knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 

or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 

sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information  

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 

collectively comprise the City of Clayton, California’s basic financial statements. The introductory 

section, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, and statistical section are 

presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements

 

 are the responsibility of management 

and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 

the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 

the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 

reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 

basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 

procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In 

our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are fairly stated, in all 

material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

 

 

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 

the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 

assurance on them.  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 15, 

2020 on our consideration of City of Clayton’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 

of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 

matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 

financial reporting and compliance on the results of that testing, and do not provide an opinion on 

internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 

performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering City of Clayton’s internal 

control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 

 

 

 

CROPPER ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 

Walnut Creek, California 

January 15, 2020 
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City of Clayton 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

  

 

Management of the City of Clayton (the "City") provides this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
the City's Basic Financial Statements for readers of the City's financial statements.  This narrative 
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City is for its fiscal year ended June 30, 2019.  We 
encourage readers to consider this information in conjunction with the additional information that is 
furnished with the City's financial statements, which follow. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS - PRIMARY GOVERNMENT  
 
Government -Wide Highlights  
 
Net Position - The assets of the City of Clayton exceeded its liabilities at the close of the year ended June 
30, 2019 by $45,753,867.  Of this amount, $2,937,082 was reported as "unrestricted net position" and may 
be used to meet the ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.  
 
Changes in Net Position - The City's total net position decreased by $189,941 in the fiscal year ending June 
30, 2019.   Net position of governmental activities decreased by $156,132, while net position of business-
type activities decreased by $33,809.  
 
Major Fund Highlights 
 
Governmental Funds – As of the year ended June 30, 2019, the City's governmental funds reported a 
combined ending fund balance of $15,332,640.  Of this amount $5,114,514 represents "unassigned fund 
balances" available for appropriation. 
 
General Fund - The unassigned fund balance of the General Fund on June 30, 2019 was $5,537,685, while 
the non-spendable and assigned fund balances were $320,232 and $102,228 respectively.   
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Clayton's basic financial 
statements.  The City of Clayton's basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-
wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements and 3) notes to the financial statements.  This 
report also contains required supplementary information and supplemental information in addition to 
the basic financial statements themselves.  
 
Government-wide Financial Statements  
 
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the 
City of Clayton's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.  
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the City of Clayton's assets and liabilities, with 
the difference between the two reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position 
may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City of Clayton is improving or 
deteriorating.  
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City of Clayton 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

  

 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements, Continued 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the City's net position changed during the 
most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving 
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and expenses are 
reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., 
uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).  
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City of Clayton that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other 
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and 
charges (business-type activities).  The governmental activities of the City of Clayton include general 
government, public safety, public works, community and economic development, and parks and 
recreation services.  The business-type activities of the City of Clayton include the activities of the 
Endeavor Hall enterprise fund.  
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The City of Clayton, like other state and local 
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements.  All of the funds of the City of Clayton can be divided into three categories: governmental 
funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.  
 
Governmental Funds 
 
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, unlike the government-wide financial 
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable 
resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.  Such 
information may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements.  
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term financing 
decisions.  Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities. 
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City of Clayton 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

  

 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued 
 
Fund Financial Statements, Continued 
 
The City of Clayton maintains fifteen individual governmental funds.  Information is presented 
separately in the government funds balance sheet and governmental funds statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, Landscape Maintenance District, 
Housing Successor Agency, and Capital Improvement Program, all of which are reported as major funds. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
The City of Clayton maintains two different types of proprietary funds.  Enterprise funds are used to 
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial 
statements.  The City of Clayton uses an enterprise fund to account for its Endeavor Hall activities.  
Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the 
City of Clayton various functions.  City of Clayton uses three internal service funds to account for its 
capital equipment replacement program, self-insurance activities, and extraordinary employer pension 
contribution fluctuations.  Because these services predominantly benefit governmental rather that 
business-type functions, they have been included within governmental activities in the government-wide 
financial statements.   
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, 
only in more detail.  The City’s sole enterprise fund is considered to be a major fund.  The internal service 
funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary fund financial statements. 
 
Fiduciary Funds 
 
The City is the fiscal agent for benefit assessment districts and other parties holding amounts collected 
which await payment as directed.  The City’s fiduciary activities are reported in the separate statement 
of fiduciary net position and the agency funds statement of assets and liabilities.  These activities are 
excluded from the City’s other financial statements because the City is acting as a trustee for these funds 
and cannot use these assets to finance its own operations.  The City’s fiduciary funds include a private-
purpose trust fund to account for the activities of the City of Clayton Redevelopment Successor Agency. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements  
 
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in 
the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the financial statements can be found 
on pages 38-79 of this report. 
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City of Clayton 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

  

 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Continued 
 
Other Information 
 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain 
required supplementary information concerning the City’s progress in funding its obligation to provide 
pension and other post-employment benefits to its employees as well as budgetary information for the 
General Fund and each of the major governmental funds.  
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS 
 
Analysis of Overall Net Position and Results of Operations 
 
As noted previously, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial 
position.  The City’s total net position was $44,753,867 at June 30, 2019, which is a decrease of $189,941 
(0.4%) from the prior year’s net position at June 30, 2018 as restated.   
 
The largest portion of the City’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, 
etc.) net of any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding.  The City uses these 
capital assets to provide services to citizens and these assets are not available for future spending.  
Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that 
the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets 
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. The following is condensed comparative 
Statements of Net Position for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018:  
 
          Business-   Business-      
    Governmental  Governmental  Type   Type       
    Activities   Activities   Activities   Activities   Total   Total 
    2019   2018   2019   2018   2019   2018  
Assets 
 Current Assets   $ 13,257,979  $ 13,413,946  $ (66,252)  $ (67,052)  $ 13,191,727 $ 13,346,894 
 Noncurrent Assets     6,464,874  6,937,803   -   -   6,464,874   6,937,803 
 Capital Assets    29,790,706  28,976,510   1,110,485   1,147,485   30,901,191   30,123,995 
  Total Assets    49,513,559  49,328,259   1,044,233   1,080,433   50,557,792   50,408,692 
                      
Deferred outflows    1,328,482  1,795,286   -   -   1,328,482   1,795,286 
 
Liabilities  
 Current Liabilities    612,424  506,344   6,501   8,892   618,925   515,236
 Noncurrent Liabilities    5,314,518  5,521,905   -   -   5,314,518   5,521,905
  Total Liabilities    5,926,942  6,028,249   6,501   8,892   5,933,443   6,037,141 
                      
Deferred inflows    198,964  223,029   -   -   198,964   223,029 
 
Net Position 
 Net investment in 
  capital assets    29,790,706  28,976,510   1,110,485   1,147,485   30,901,191   30,123,995 
 Restricted     11,915,594  12,059,042   -   -   11,915,594   12,059,042 
 Unrestricted    3,009,835  3,836,715   (72,753)   (75,944)   2,937,082   3,760,771 
  Total net position   $ 44,716,135  $ 44,872,267  $ 1,037,732  $ 1,071,541  $ 45,753,867  $ 45,943,808
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS, Continued 
 
Analysis of Overall Net Position and Results of Operations, Continued 
 
Of the City’s total net position, $11,915,594 (26.0%) represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used.  The balance of the unrestricted net position of $2,937,082 (6.4%) may 
be used to meet the City's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.  City revenues for the year, 
including both governmental and business-type activities, were $7,774,638, while expenses totaled 
$7,964,579, resulting in a net decrease to net position of $189,941 excluding transfers, extraordinary and 
special items.  This net increase was primarily attributable to an increase in net position of governmental 
activities, which is discussed in greater detail in the following section. 
 
The following is a recap of the City’s Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Position for the fiscal 
years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018: 
 
          Business-    Business-      
    Governmental  Governmental   Type    Type        
    Activities   Activities   Activities    Activities    Total   Total 
    2019   2018   2019    2018    2019   2018  
Revenues:  
 Program revenues: 
  Charges for Services   $ 963,255  $ 992,193  $ 24,642  $ 27,890  $ 987,897  $ 1,020,083 
  Operating grants and contributions    825,018   900,239   -   -   825,018   900,239 
  Capital grants and contributions    570,049   526,452   -   -   570,049   526,452 
   Total program revenues    2,358,322   2,418,884   24,642   27,890   2,382,964   2,446,774 
 
 Grant revenues: 
  Property taxes     2,463,898   2,345,067   -   -   2,463,898   2,345,067 
  Special parcel taxes    1,256,011   1,254,911   -   -   1,256,011   1,254,911 
  Sales and use taxes    483,741   436,560   -   -   483,741   436,560 
  Business license taxes    175,153   154,397   -   -   175,153   154,397 
  Franchise fees     523,129   547,765   -   -   523,129   547,765 
  Payments in lieu of taxes    164,331   161,108   -   -   164,331   161,108 
  Investment income    255,272   287,595   4   -   255,276   287,595 
  Miscellaneous     39,211   23,118   -   -   39,211   23,118 
  Gain (loss) on sale of assets    30,924   (893)   -   -   30,924   (893) 
   Total general revenues    5,391,670   5,209,628   4   -   5,391,674   5,209,628 
    Total revenues     7,749,992   7,628,512   24,646   27,890   7,774,638   7,656,402 
 
Expenses: 
 General government    1,457,326   1,305,562   -   -   1,457,326   1,305,562 
 Public works     2,536,880   2,538,912   -   -   2,536,880   2,538,912 
 Public safety     2,825,969   2,509,147   -   -   2,825,969   2,509,147 
 Community and economic 
  development     367,682   329,418   -   -   367,682   329,418 
 Parks and recreation services    718,267   667,687   -   -   718,267   667,687 
 Endeavor Hall     -   -   58,455   76,901   58,455   76,901 
  Total expenses     7,906,124   7,350,726   58,455   76,901   7,964,579   7,427,627 
 
Increase (decrease) in Net Position 
before transfers, special and 
extraordinary items     (156,132)   277,786   (33,809)   (49,011)   (189,941)   228,775 
 Extraordinary items    -   -   -   -   -   - 
Change in Net Position    (156,132)   277,786   (33,809)   (49,011)   (189,941)   228,775  
Net Position – Beginning    44,872,267   44,594,481   1,071,541   1,120,552   45,943,808   45,715,033 
Net Position – ending    44,716,135   44,872,267   1,037,732   1,071,541   45,753,867   45,943,808 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS, Continued 
 
Analysis of Governmental Activities  
 
The decrease in net position of the governmental activities over the prior year was primarily attributable 
to an increase in the expenditures for public safety. Total expenses were $7,906,124 in the current year 
compared to $7,350,726 in the prior year.  The following chart depicts the relative size of expenses by 
function for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2019 and 2018:  
 

 
 
Total program revenues from governmental activities were $2,358,322 in the current year compared to 
$2,418,884 in the prior year.  Program revenues are derived directly from the program itself or from 
parties outside the reporting government's taxpayers or citizenry.  They reduce the net cost of the 
function to be financed from government's general revenues.  Of the governmental program revenues, 
40.8% were derived from charges for services, which includes park use fees, rental fees, licenses and 
permits, planning services fees, engineering plan check fees, police service fees, and other revenues.  The 
remaining 59.2% of the governmental program revenues came from operating and capital grants and 
contributions.  General revenues are all other revenues not categorized as program revenues such as 
property taxes, special parcel taxes, sales and use taxes, motor vehicle fees, investment earnings, 
franchise fees, use of money and property, service charges, and miscellaneous revenues.   
 
  

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

Public
Works

Public
Safety

General
Gov

Parks &
Rec

Com &
Econ
Dev

Function

Governmental Activities 
Expenses by Function

June 30, 2019

June 30, 2018

9

D
R

AFT 01.16.20 2PM



City of Clayton 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

  

 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS, Continued 
 
Analysis of Governmental Activities, Continued 
 
Total general revenues from governmental activities grew slightly by $182,042 (3.5%) over the prior year.  
The following pie charts depict the relative size of governmental activities program and general revenues 
by source for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2019 and 2018: 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS, Continued 
 
Analysis of Business-Type Activities  
 
Total business-type expenses decreased 24.0% from $76,901 in the prior year to $58,455 in the current 
year.  This decrease is largely attributable to unexpected maintenance and repairs costs associated with 
operations of the Endeavor Hall rental facility in the prior year that were not recurring in the current 
year.  Total services revenue decreased as well by 11.6%, from $27,890 in the prior year to $24,642 in the 
current year associated with a higher volume of discounted rentals to non-profits.  Net position of 
business-type activities declined $33,809 to a total of $1,037,732 at June 30, 2019 due to charges for services 
being insufficient to cover the annual depreciation expense of underlying Endeavor Hall rental facility 
assets. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF INDIVIDUAL FUND STATEMENTS 
 
Analysis of Governmental Funds 
 
The focus of the City of Clayton's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 
outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the City of 
Clayton's financing requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure 
of a government's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $15,332,640.  Of this amount, in order of relative significance, $5,114,514 (33.4%) is 
unassigned; $320,232 (2.1%) is in non-spendable form; $2,846,870 (18.5%) is assigned for specific 
purposes; $6,403,413 (41.8%) is restricted by law, regulation, or other outside contractual agreements; 
and $647,611 (4.2%) is committed for specific expenditures in the future. 
 
General Fund 
 
The City’s General Fund reported an increase in fund balance of $93,674 (1.7%) in the current fiscal year.  
This modest increase is mostly attributable to higher than expected investment results.  Total fund 
balance of the General Fund is $5,760,145 as of June 30, 2019, of which $5,337,685 (92.7%) is reported as 
unassigned and available for appropriation.  This unassigned fund balance is 1.12 times the size of the 
General Fund’s adopted operating budget for the upcoming fiscal year ending June 30, 2020. 
 
Landscape Maintenance District 
 
Community Facilities District No. 2007-1, referred to as the Landscape Maintenance District special 
revenue fund, reported a slight increase in fund balance of $23,402 (2%) in the current fiscal year.  This 
increase in fund balance is largely attributable to better than expected investment results in the current 
fiscal year.  Total fund balance of the Landscape Maintenance District is $1,226,636 as of June 30, 2019, of 
which $345,109 (28.1%) is reported as assigned for the following year’s operating budget.   
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF INDIVIDUAL FUND STATEMENTS, Continued 
 
Analysis of Governmental Funds, Continued 
 
Successor Housing Agency 
 
The Successor Housing Agency special revenue fund reported a decrease in fund balance of $111,001 in 
the current fiscal year.  This decrease in fund balance resulted primarily from unspent program revenue 
on housing loan repayments as well as unrealized losses on the inventory of affordable income housing.  
Total fund balance of the Successor Housing Agency is $4,654,561 as of June 30, 2019, which is classified 
entirely as restricted.   
 
Capital Improvement Program 
 
The Capital Improvement Program capital projects fund reported a decrease in fund balance of $38,875 
(2%) in the current fiscal year.  This slight decrease in fund balance primarily arose from timing 
differences between project execution and funding.  Total fund balance of the Capital Improvement 
Program fund is $1,812,067 and is reported entirely as assigned for capital projects as of June 30, 2019.   
 
Analysis of Proprietary Funds 
 
The City of Clayton's proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-
wide financial statements, but in more detail.  The net position of the City’s only major enterprise fund, 
Endeavor Hall, at the end of the year was $1,037,732, and total net position for the internal service funds 
amounted to $953,286.   
 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 
General Fund actual revenues and transfers exceeded total revenues of the final budget only modestly 
by $126,814 (2.8%), which is on target with the adopted fiscal year 2019 budget projection of a $101,970 
(2.22%) planned operating surplus   The remainder of the increase (24,844) was from better than expected 
investment results and an unrealized investment gain.  The unrealized investment gain was reported as 
a direct result of the City’s investment portfolio being largely made up of fixed instrument securities 
during a time of declining interest rates.  As noted in recent quarterly investment portfolio reports 
presented to the City Council, the City’s investment policy is designed to reduce volatility and generate 
consistent returns in the long run in order to protect public funds.  Actual property tax revenues exceeded 
somewhat conservative adopted budgetary growth projections by 2.0%, which was largely offset by 
lower than expected revenue from franchise fees. 
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GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS, Continued 
 
Actual General Fund expenditures of $4,722,330 were over the final adjusted budget by $142,110 (3.1%) 
for the year ended June 30, 2019.  On January 16, 2018, the City Council approved the assignment and 
appropriation of $299,000 in General Fund excess reserves arising from the increase in fund balance 
reported in the prior year audited financial statements.  Consistent with similar action taken in prior 
years, the purpose of this assignment was to address specific one-time capital and operational needs of 
the City that could not be addressed in the annual operating budget.  As of June 30, 2019, the unused 
balance of General Fund assigned fund balance was $534,538, reflecting an investment of $432,309 for 
the City Council-authorized specific non-recurring purposes during the same fiscal year then ended.  
This residual assigned balance reported at June 30, 2019 was rolled in the following year’s budget for the 
specific authorized purposes.   
 
CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of June 30, 
2019 amounted to $30,901,191  (net of accumulated depreciation).  This investment in capital assets 
includes land, building, improvements, machinery and equipment, park facilities, corporate yard 
building, and roads.  Total depreciation expense on governmental assets totaled $1,043,662, versus 
$964,265 in the prior year.  The increase in depreciation is attributable to the completion of significant 
capital projects during the prior and current fiscal years.  Additional information on the City of Clayton's 
capital assets can be found in Note 5 of this report.  
 
Debt Administration  
 
The remaining debt of the former Clayton Redevelopment Agency (RDA) of $5,835,000 was transferred 
to the Successor Agency on February 1, 2012 (fiscal year ending June 30, 2012).  The City has no 
outstanding general obligation debt.  The Successor Agency has maintained its "AAA" credit rating (S&P) 
on outstanding Tax Allocation Bonds.  Additional information on the Successor Agency's long-term debt 
can be found in Note 13 of this report.    
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET  
 
As the City of Clayton is largely a bedroom community the annual General Fund operating budget relies 
heavily on property taxes to finance annual operating appropriations rather than other sources of 
revenue larger and more commercially and industrial developed municipalities have access to (i.e. sales 
and transient occupancy taxes).  The City strives to meet the ever evolving needs of local residents and 
businesses within the constraints of limited and sometimes restrictive revenue sources.   
 
There was a slight increase in adopted General Fund operating appropriations for the upcoming fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2020 of $187,230 (4.1%).  The slight increase in appropriations is attributable to fixed 
cost increases in various City departments, albeit it is less than the annual June 2018 to June 2019 
consumer price index inflationary factor of 3.9% published by the U.S. Bureau of Labor and Statistics for 
the San Francisco-Oakland-Hayward region.  The adopted budget for the fiscal year ending June 30,
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET, Continued 
 
2020 projects total General Fund revenues of $4,814,200, an increase of approximately $125,010 (2.7%) 
over the prior year adopted budget.  The projected revenue growth reflects continued growth in property 
tax and sales and use taxes supported by actual results reported in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019. 
 
REQUEST FOR INFORMATION  
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Clayton's finances for all 
those with an interest in the City's finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in 
this report, or requests for additional financial information, should be addressed to the Office of the 
Finance Manager, 6000 Heritage Trail, Clayton, California 94517.  
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City of Clayton
Government-Wide

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2019

Governmental Business-Type
ASSETS Activities Activites Total

Current Assets:
Cash and investments 11,914,823$           3,000$                    11,917,823$           
Accounts receivable (net of allowances) 1,197,757               -                          1,197,757               
Interest receivable 63,715                    -                          63,715                    
Internal balances 69,252                    (69,252)                   -                          
Prepaid expenses 12,432                    -                          12,432                    

Total Current Assets 13,257,979             (66,252)                   13,191,727             

Noncurrent Assets:
Investment in affordable housing 2,470,781               -                          2,470,781               
Notes receivable 3,994,093               -                          3,994,093               
Nondepreciable assets 3,200,830               167,738                  3,368,568               
Depreciable assets, net 26,589,876             942,747                  27,532,623             

Total Noncurrent Assets 36,255,580             1,110,485               37,366,065             
Total Assets 49,513,559             1,044,233               50,557,792             

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred outflows related to pension 1,285,978               -                          1,285,978               

Deferred outflows related to OPEB 42,504                    -                          42,504                    

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 1,328,482               -                          1,328,482               

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilites:

Accounts payable 446,642                  1,001                      447,643                  
Deposits payable -                          5,500                      5,500                      
Accrued payroll 86,632                    -                          86,632                    
Unearned revenue 5,935                      -                          5,935                      
Compensated absences payable 71,648                    -                          71,648                    
Other liabilities 1,567                      -                              1,567                      

Total Current Liabilities 612,424                  6,501                      618,925                  

Noncurrent Liabilites:

Compensated absences payable 71,648                    -                          71,648                    
Net OPEB liability 570,116                  -                          570,116                  
Net pension liability 4,672,754               -                          4,672,754               

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 5,314,518               -                          5,314,518               

Total Liabilities 5,926,942               6,501                      5,933,443               

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows related to pension 185,278                  -                          185,278                  
Deferred inflows related to OPEB 13,686                    -                          13,686                    

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 198,964                  -                          198,964                  

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 29,790,706             1,110,485               30,901,191             
Restricted for special projects and programs 11,915,594             -                          11,915,594             
Unrestricted 3,009,835               (72,753)                   2,937,082               

Total Net Position 44,716,135$           1,037,732$             45,753,867$           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 
Governmental Funds are used to account for activities primarily supported by taxes, grants, and similar 
revenue sources.  All governmental funds can be classified into one of five fund types:  the General Fund, 
special revenue funds, debt service funds, capital projects funds, and permanent funds.   
 
General Fund: 

The General Fund is the main operating fund of the City and is presented as a major fund. It is used to 
account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.  
 
Special Revenue Funds:  

Special revenue funds account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are restricted 
or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects.  The 
following are reported as major special revenue funds: 
 

Landscape Maintenance District - Community Facilities District (CFD) No. 2007-1, referred to as the 
Landscape Maintenance District special revenue fund, accounts for real property voter-approved 
special parcel taxes collected to maintain arterial landscaping and open space within the City (CFD 
No. 2007-1 sunsets in 2027). 

Successor Housing Agency - Accounts for the activities related to the assets assumed by the City of 
Clayton as the Housing Successor to the housing activities of the former Redevelopment Agency of 
the City of Clayton. 
 

Capital Projects Funds: 

Capital projects funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or 
construction of major capital facilities other than those financed by proprietary funds.  The following is 
the City’s sole major capital projects fund: 
 

Capital Improvement Program - Accounts for the projects identified in the capital improvement 
program funded by various federal and state grants as well as through transfers from the General 
Fund.  
 

Non-major Governmental Funds: 

All non-major governmental funds of the City are aggregated and presented on the face of the basic 
financial statements in one column. 
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City of Clayton
Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet
June 30, 2019

General Fund

Landscape 
Maintenance 

District
Successor  

Housing Agency

ASSETS
Cash and investments 5,452,522$         1,345,098$         1,233,874$         
Accounts receivable 592,834 -                      3,000
Interest receivable 37,278 -                      -                      
Investment in affordable housing -                     -                      2,470,781
Notes receivable 3,958 -                      3,990,135
Prepaid items 12,432 -                      -                      
Due from other funds 307,800 -                      -                      
Advance to other funds 2,580 -                      -                      

Total Assets 6,409,404$         1,345,098$         7,697,790$         

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 210,075$            118,462$            1,829$                
Other payables 1,567 -                      -                      
Accrued payroll 86,632 -                      -                      
Compensated absences 71,648 -                      -                      
Due to other funds -                     -                      -                      
Advance from other funds -                     -                      -                      
Unearned revenue 5,935 -                      -                      

Total Liabilities 375,857             118,462             1,829                  

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Deferred revenue 273,402 -                      3,041,400

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 273,402             -                      3,041,400           

Fund Balance:
Non-spendable 320,232          -                   -                   
Restricted -                  881,527          4,654,561        
Committed -                    -                    -                    
Assigned 102,228            345,109            -                    
Unassigned 5,337,685       -                   -                   

Total Fund Balance 5,760,145          1,226,636          4,654,561           

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows
of Resources and Fund Balances 6,409,404$         1,345,098$         7,697,790$         

Special Revenue

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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City of Clayton
Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet
June 30, 2019

Capital Project

Capital 
Improvement 

Program

Other 
Governmental 

Funds Total

1,383,754$          2,036,588$          11,451,836$       
472,743 155,617               1,224,194          

-                       -                       37,278               
-                       -                       2,470,781          
-                       -                       3,994,093          
-                       -                       12,432               
-                       -                       307,800             
-                       -                       2,580                 

1,856,497$          2,192,205$          19,500,994$       

44,430$               71,846$               446,642$            
-                       -                       1,567                 
-                       -                       86,632               
-                       -                       71,648               
-                       238,548               238,548             
-                       2,580                   2,580                 
-                       -                       5,935                 

44,430                 312,974               853,552             

-                       -                       3,314,802          
-                       -                       3,314,802          

-                    -                    320,232          
-                    867,325            6,403,413       
-                    647,611            647,611            

1,812,067         587,466            2,846,870         
-                    (223,171)           5,114,514       

1,812,067            1,879,231            15,332,640        

1,856,497$          2,192,205$          19,500,994$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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City of Clayton
Reconciliation of Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2019

Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 15,332,640$       

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are different because:

CAPITAL ASSETS

Non-depreciable capital assets 3,200,830           
Depreciable capital assets (net of internal service fund assets of $490,299) 26,099,577

ACCRUAL OF NON-CURRENT REVENUES AND EXPENSES

Unavailable revenue which are deferred inflows of resources in the Governmental Funds because 
they are not available currently, but are taken into revenue in the statement of activities. 3,314,802            

LONG-TERM ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported 
in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet.

Net OPEB liability not reported on the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet (570,116)              
Compensated absences payable (71,648)               
Net pension liability not reported on the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet (4,672,754)          

DEFERRED INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS
Deferred inflows/(outflows) of resources for not reported on the Governmental Funds Balance 
Sheet

Deferred outflows of resources for net pension liability 1,285,978           

Deferred inflows of resources for net pension liability (185,278)             

Deferred outflows of resources for net OPEB liability 42,504                

Deferred inflows of resources for net OPEB liability (13,686)               

ALLOCATION OF INTERNAL SERVICE FUND NET POSITION

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities to 
individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in the 
governmental activities in the Government-wide Statement of Net Position. 953,286               

Net Position of Governmental Activities 44,716,135$        

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources and therefore are 
not reported in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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City of Clayton
Governmental Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the year ended June 30, 2019

General Fund

Landscape 
Maintenance 

District

Successor 
Housing 
Agency

REVENUES
Property taxes 2,463,898$         -$                     -$                    
Program income -                     -                      96,400
Special parcel taxes and assessments -                     1,121,738          -                      
Sales and use taxes 483,741 -                      -                      
Business licenses 175,153 -                      -                      
Permits, licenses and fees 146,867 -                      -                      
Fines, forfeitures and penalties 82,375 -                      -                      
Intergovernmental 111,473 -                      -                      
Motor vehicle in-lieu fees -                         -                      -                      
Other in-lieu fees 164,331 -                      -                      
Franchise fees 523,129 -                      -                      
Service charges 325,078 -                      -                      
Use of money and property 191,365 42,112 23,247
Other revenue 33,541 -                      -                      

Total Revenues 4,700,951          1,163,850          119,647              

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 1,297,303          -                      -                      
Public safety 2,214,359 -                      -                      
Public works 304,552 885,114 -                      
Community and economic development 336,242 -                      15,921
Parks and recreation services 375,087 -                      -                      

Capital outlay 94,787 218,076 -                      
Total Expenditures 4,622,330          1,103,190          15,921                

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
Over (Under) Expenditures 78,621               60,660                103,726              

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Unrealized gains (losses) -                         -                      (214,727)             
Transfers in 115,053             -                      -                      
Transfers out (100,000)            (37,258)               -                      

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 15,053               (37,258)               (214,727)             

Net Change in Fund Balances 93,674               23,402                (111,001)             

FUND BALANCES

Beginning of year 5,666,471 1,203,234 4,765,562

End of fiscal year 5,760,145$          1,226,636$          4,654,561$          

Special Revenue

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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City of Clayton
Governmental Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Capital Project
Capital 

Improvement 
Program

Other 
Governmental 

Funds Total

-$                     -$                     2,463,898$         
50,000 -                       146,400             

-                       424,661               1,546,399          
-                       -                       483,741             
-                       -                       175,153             
-                       65,375                 212,242             
-                       -                       82,375               

480,488 720,567               1,312,528          
-                       -                       -                     
-                       -                       164,331             
-                       -                       523,129             
-                       -                       325,078             

57,016 71,956                 385,696             
-                       2,182                   35,723               

587,504               1,284,741            7,856,693          

-                       20,670                 1,317,973          
-                       150,980               2,365,339          
-                       431,963               1,621,629          
-                       -                           352,163             
-                       102,179               477,266             

1,772,407            61,508                 2,146,778          
1,772,407            767,300               8,281,148          

(1,184,903)           517,441               (424,455)            

-                           -                           (214,727)            
1,146,118            -                           1,261,171          

-                       (1,223,913)           (1,361,171)         
1,146,118            (1,223,913)           (314,727)            

(38,785)                (706,472)              (739,182)            

1,850,852 2,585,703            16,071,822          

1,812,067$          1,879,231$          15,332,640$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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City of Clayton
Reconciliation of Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund

Balances to the Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Position
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds (739,182)$           

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:

ACCRUAL OF NON-CURRENT ITEMS

The amounts below included in the Statement of Activities do not provide (or require) the use of 
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as revenue or expenditures in the 
Governmental Funds (net change).

Net change in post-employment benefits (OPEB) liability and deferred inflows (outflows) (16,030)               
Long-term compensated absences payable 3,600                  
Net change in pension liability and deferred inflows (outflows). (222,922)             
Unavailable revenues (96,020)               

CAPITAL ASSET TRANSACTIONS

Governmental Funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However in the Statement of Activities 
the cost of those assets is capitalized and allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as 
depreciation expense.

Capital asset acquisition, excluding internal service fund asset acquisitions. 1,729,569            
Depreciation expense is deducted from the fund balance (Net of internal service fund depreciation 
of $77,252). (966,410)              

ALLOCATION OF INTERNAL SERVICE FUND ACTIVITY

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities, such as 
insurance and fleet management, to individual funds. The net gain or loss of the internal service 
funds is reported with governmental activities. 151,263               

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities on Statement of Activities (156,132)$            

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
 
Proprietary funds account for City operations financed and operated in a manner similar to a private 
business enterprise.  The intent of the City is that the cost of providing goods and services be financed 
primarily through user charges.  The City’s proprietary funds can be classified into two fund types: 
enterprise and internal service funds. 
 
Enterprise Funds: 
 
Enterprise funds are used to report any activity for which a fee is charged to external users for goods or 
services.  The following is the City’s sole major enterprise fund: 
 

Endeavor Hall – Accounts for all rental activities related to operation of the underlying rental facility 
asset.  The primary use of the rental facility has been for wedding receptions and other formal special 
events. 

 
Internal Service Funds: 
 
The City’s internal service funds account for activities that provide goods or services to other City funds, 
departments, or agencies on a cost reimbursement basis.  All internal service funds of the City are 
aggregated and presented on the face of the proprietary fund financial statements in one column. 
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City of Clayton
Proprietary Funds

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2019

Business-type 
Activities - 

Endeavor Hall

Governmental 
Activities - 

Internal Service 

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and investments 3,000$               462,987$            
Noncurrent assets

Land 167,738 -                    
Depreciable assets, net 942,747 490,299            

Total Assets 1,113,485            953,286              

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 1,001 -                    
Other payables -                    -                    
Deposits payable 5,500 -                    
Due to other funds 69,252 -                    

Total Liabilities 75,753              -                    

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 1,110,485          490,299            
Unrestricted (72,753)             462,987            

Total Net Position 1,037,732$         953,286$            

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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City of Clayton
Proprietary Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Business-type 
Activities - 

Endeavor Hall

Governmental 
Activities - 

Internal Service 
Funds

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for current services 24,642$              88,820$              

Total Operating Revenues 24,642                 88,820                 

OPERATING EXPENSES

Personnel 8,152 -                      
General and administrative 13,303 4,260                  
Depreciation and amortization 37,000               77,252                

Total Operating Expenses 58,455                 81,512                 

Operating Income (Loss) (33,813)              7,308                  

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets -                     30,924                
Investment income 4                        13,031                

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 4                        43,955                

Net (loss) Before Contributions and 
Operating Transfers (33,809)              51,263                

Capital contributions -                     -                      
Transfers in / (out) -                     100,000               

Change in Net Position (33,809)              151,263               

NET POSITION:

Beginning of fiscal year 1,071,541 802,023               

End of fiscal year 1,037,732$         953,286$             

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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City of Clayton
Proprietary Funds

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Business-type 
Activities - 

Endeavor Hall

Governmental 
Activities - 

Internal Service 
Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Receipts from customers 26,842$            88,820$             
Payments to suppliers (15,694)            -                     
Payments to employees (8,152)              -                     
Claims paid -                   (4,520)                

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 2,996               84,300               

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES:

Transfers in / (out) -                   100,000             
Net cash provided by noncapital financing -                   100,000             

activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Acquisition of fixed assets -                   (128,289)            
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets -                   30,924               

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related -                   (97,365)              
financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest received on investments 4                      13,031               

Net Cash provided by investing activities 4                      13,031               

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,000               99,966               

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

Beginning of fiscal year -                   363,021             

End of fiscal year 3,000$              462,987$           

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME
(LOSS) TO NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating income (loss) (33,813)$           7,308$               
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) 
to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 37,000             77,252               
Changes in current assets and liabilities:

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (2,391)              (260)                   
Increase (decrease) in deposits payable -                   -                     
Increase (decrease) in interfund payables 2,200               -                     

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 2,996$              84,300$             

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

 
Fiduciary funds report assets held in a trustee or agency capacity for others and therefore cannot be used 
to support the government’s own programs.  The City’s fiduciary funds can be classified into two fund 
types: agency and private purpose trust funds. 
 
Agency Funds:  
 
Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve measurements of results 
of operations. They are used to account for assets held in an agency capacity for others and therefore 
cannot be used to support the City's program. Agency funds are accounted for using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. 
 
Private Purpose Trust Funds  
 
Private purpose trust funds account for resources held by the City as trustee for third party beneficiaries, 
and are used to report both the Fiduciary Net Position and Changes in Fiduciary Net Position for the 
Successor Agency for the former Redevelopment Agency. Private Purpose Trust Funds are accounted 
for under the full accrual basis of accounting. 
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City of Clayton
Fiduciary Funds

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
June 30, 2019

Private Purpose 
Trust Fund

Redevelopment 
Successor 
Agency Agency Funds

ASSETS
Cash and investments 738,952$            1,920,080$          
Cash and investments with fiscal agents 55 383,727              
Accounts receivable -                     36,760                
Assessments receivable -                     1,929,072            
Notes receivable 79,747 -                      
Investment in bonds -                     1,696,000            

Total Assets 818,754               5,965,639$          

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable -                     13,038$              
Other liabilities 3,000                 1,768,583            
Deposits payable -                     704,946              
Accrued interest payable 22,430 -                      
Advance from Successor Housing Agency 296,206 -                      
Notes payable -                     79,747                
Bonds payable 2,340,000 3,399,325            

Total Liabilities 2,661,636            5,965,639$          

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred notes receivables -                       

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources
-                       

NET POSITION

Held in trust for others (1,842,882)           

Total Net Position (1,842,882)$         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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City of Clayton
Fiduciary Funds

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Private Prupose 
Trust Fund

Redevelopment 
Successor 
Agency

ADDITIONS

Tax increment revenue 824,867$            
Program revenue 91,701

Total Additions 916,568               

DEDUCTIONS

Interest expense 54,590
Administrative costs 234,720
Investment loss (8,978)                
Other expenses 2,177

Total Deductions 282,509               

Changes in Net Position 634,059             

NET POSITION

Beginning of Year (2,476,941)           

End of Year (1,842,882)$        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements 
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City of Clayton 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 

For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 

 
 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
The basic financial statements of the City of Clayton, California (City) have been prepared in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles (US GAAP) as applied to governmental agencies. The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the 
City's accounting policies are described below.  
 
Reporting Entity 
 
The City of Clayton (City) is primarily a residential community nestled in the foothills of Mount Diablo 
in Contra Costa County, California. The City was incorporated on March 3, 1964 under the laws of the 
State of California, and encompasses approximately four square miles with a population of 11,431. The 
City operates under the Council-Manager form of government, with five elected Council members 
served by a full-time City Manager and a staff of twenty-five (25) full-time employees providing the 
following services: public works, parks and recreation services, community and economic development, 
public safety, and general government.  The City’s public safety program is served by an in-house police 
force of eleven (11) full-time sworn police officers supported by two (2) full-time administrative 
personnel.   
 
The basic financial statements include the financial activities of the City, Successor Agency to the Clayton 
Redevelopment Agency (Successor Agency) and the Clayton Financing Authority (Authority). 
 
The City is the primary government unit.  Component units are those entities which are financially 
accountable to the primary government, either because the City appoints a voting majority of the 
component unit's board, or because the component unit will provide a financial benefit or impose a 
financial burden on the City.  The Clayton Redevelopment Agency (“RDA”), which was dissolved as of 
February 1, 2012 was accounted for as a "blended" component unit of the City. Despite being legally 
separate, this entity was so intertwined with the City that it is, in substance, part of the City's operations.  
Accordingly, the balances and transactions of this component unit were reported within the funds of the 
City.  Upon the dissolution of the RDA, the RDA ceased to be reported as a blended component unit and 
was replaced by the Successor Agency, which is reported as a private purpose trust fund in the fiduciary 
fund section of the financial statements.   
 
The Authority is a joint exercise of powers authority duly organized and existing under and pursuant to 
that certain Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement, by and between the City and the former RDA of the 
City of Clayton with the City Council serving as the Board of Directors.  It was created by the City of 
Clayton City Council in 1990 with the primary purpose of issuing bonded obligations to finance capital 
projects within the community for which repayment is secured by pledges of revenue from legally 
separate and distinct districts.  The activities of the Authority are reported in the fiduciary fund financial 
statement section as the Authority’s debt is secured entirely by third parties that are not part of the 
primary government of the City and the City has no obligation for such debt.  Separate financial 
statements of the Authority are available at the City’s website at www.ci.clayton.ca.gov.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 
 
Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus  
 
The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate 
accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing 
accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures or expenses as 
appropriate. Government resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon 
the purpose for which they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled.  
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements  
 
The government-wide financial statements include a Statement of Net Position and a Statement of 
Activities. These statements present summaries of governmental and business type activities for the City, 
the primary government. Fiduciary activities of the City are not included in these statements.  
 
These financial statements are presented on an "economic resources" measurement focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting. Accordingly, all of the City's assets and liabilities, including capital assets and related 
infrastructure assets and long-term liabilities, are included in the accompanying Statement of Net 
Position. The Statement of Activities presents changes in net position. 
 
Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are earned 
while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred.  
 
Certain types of transactions are reported as program revenues for the City in three categories:  
 

 Charges for services  
 Operating grants and contributions  
 Capital grants and contributions  

 
Certain eliminations have been made in regards to inter-fund activities, payables and receivables. All 
internal balances in the statement of net position have been eliminated in the statement of activities; 
internal service fund transactions have been eliminated. However, those transactions between 
governmental and business-type activities have not been eliminated. The following inter-fund activities 
have been eliminated:  
 
 Advances to/from other funds 
 Due to/from other funds 
 Transfers in/out 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 
 
Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus, Continued 
 
Governmental fund financial statements include a balance sheet and a statement of revenues, 
expenditures and changes in fund balances for all major governmental funds and non-major funds 
aggregated. An accompanying schedule is presented to reconcile and explain the differences in fund 
balances as presented in these statements to the net position as presented in the government-wide 
financial statements. The City has presented all major funds that met the applicable criteria.  
 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements  
 
All governmental funds are accounted for on a spending or "current financial resources" measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, only current assets and current 
liabilities are included on the Balance Sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in 
fund balances present increases (revenue and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and 
other financing uses) in net current assets. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are 
recognized in the accounting period in which they become both measurable and available to finance 
expenditures of the current period.  
 
Revenues are recorded when received in cash, except those revenues subject to accrual (generally sixty 
[60] days after year-end) are recognized when due. The primary revenue sources, which have been 
treated as susceptible to accrual by the City, are property tax, sales tax, intergovernmental revenues, and 
other taxes. Revenues from other governmental agencies (excluding property taxes) are deemed to be 
available if received within one hundred eighty (180) days after fiscal year end. Expenditures are 
recorded in the accounting period in which the related fund liability is incurred.  
 
Deferred revenues arise when potential revenues do not meet both the "measurable" and "available" 
criteria for recognition in the current period.  Deferred revenues also arise when the government receives 
resources before it has a legal claim to them, as when grant monies are received prior to incurring 
qualifying expenditures.  In subsequent periods when both revenue recognition criteria are met or when 
the government has a legal claim to the resources, the deferred revenue is removed from the balance 
sheet and revenue is recognized.  
 
The reconciliation of the fund financial statements to the government-wide financial statements is 
provided to explain the differences created by the integrated approach of GASB Statement No. 34.  The 
City has the following major governmental funds: 
 

General Fund - This fund is the general operating fund of the City. It is used to account for all financial 
resources except those that are required to be accounted for in another fund. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 
 
Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus, Continued 

 
Landscape Maintenance District – This special revenue fund accounts for the Community Facility 
District No. 2007-1 restricted special parcel tax approved over two-thirds the local electorate in the 
June 2016 election through the passing of “Measure H.”  This special parcel tax is restricted to fund 
the operation, maintenance, and improvement of specific city-wide public landscaped areas.  
 
Successor Housing Agency – This special revenue fund accounts for the City’s low and moderate 
housing program, which was assumed by the by City Council action upon dissolution of the former 
redevelopment agency.  Program revenue of this fund is primarily generated through the repayment 
on low-moderate income housing loans. 
 
Capital Improvement Program - This capital projects fund accounts for the projects identified in the 
capital improvement program funded by various federal and state grants as well as through 
transfers from the General Fund. 

 
Proprietary Fund Financial Statements  
 
Proprietary fund financial statements include a statement of net position, a statement of revenues, 
expenses and change in fund net position, and a statement of cash flows for all proprietary funds.  
Internal service funds are presented in these statements. However, internal service balances and activities 
have been combined with the governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  
 
Proprietary funds are accounted for using the "economic resources" measurement focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting. Accordingly, all assets and liabilities (whether current or noncurrent) are included 
on the statement of net position. The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund net position 
present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total net position. Under the accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are earned while expenses are 
recognized in the period in which liability is incurred. Operating revenues in the proprietary funds are 
those revenues that are generated from the primary operations of the fund.  All other revenues are 
reported as non-operating revenues. Operating expenses are those expenses that are essential to the 
primary operations of the fund. All other expenses are reported as nonoperating expenses.  
 
The City has the following major enterprise fund: 

 
Endeavor Hall - This fund accounts for all activities related to use of the facility. The primary use has 
been for wedding receptions. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued  
 
Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus, Continued  
 
The City has the following internal service funds: 

 
Capital Equipment Replacement Fund - This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and 
replacement of the City vehicles and equipment. 

 
Self-Insurance Fund - This fund accounts for the administration of the City's self-insurance programs, 
payment of Employee Assistance Programs, and self-insured liability claim deductibles. 
 
Pension Rate Stabilization Fund - This fund stabilizes major fluctuations in annual employer pension 
costs driven by market factors and actuarial changes.   
 

Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements  
 
The agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve measurement of 
results of operations, therefore only a statement of fiduciary net position is presented.  Agency funds are 
accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  
Reclassifications were recorded to prior year amounts reported for various assets and liabilities for 
agency funds in order to be consistent with the current year’s presentation. 
 
Private purpose trust funds account for resources held by the City as trustee for third party beneficiaries, 
and are used to report both the fiduciary net position and changes in fiduciary net position of the 
Successor Agency to the former Redevelopment Agency. Private purpose trust funds are accounted for 
under the full accrual basis of accounting. 
 
Use of Restricted and Unrestricted Net Position  
 
When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are 
available, the City's policy is to apply restricted net position first.  
 
Cash Equivalents 
 
For purposes of reporting cash flows for the City’s proprietary funds, pooled cash and investments held 
by the City are considered cash equivalents as the proprietary fund can access pooled cash and 
investments in a manner similar to a demand deposit.   
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued  
 
Cash and Investments  
 
The City pools cash and investments from all funds for the purpose of increasing income through 
investment activities.  Interest income on investments is allocated to the funds on the basis of average 
month-end cash and investment balances.  Investments are carried at fair value.  Fair value is based on 
quoted market price if applicable. Otherwise the fair value hierarchy is as follows:  
 

Level 1 – Values are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at 
the measurement date. 
 
Level 2 – Inputs, other than quoted prices, included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liabilities at the measurement date. 
 
Level 3 – Certain inputs are unobservable inputs (supported by little or no market activity, such as 
the City’s best estimate of what hypothetical market participants would use to determine a 
transaction price for the asset or liability at the reporting date). 

 
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) determines fair value on its investment portfolio based on market 
quotations for these securities where market quotations are readily available, and on amortized cost or 
best estimate for those securities where market value is not readily available.  
 
The City’s investment policy (Policy) states that the primary investment objective is safety with 
investments being legally permitted and sufficiently liquid to meet forecasted needs. Maximization of 
interest earnings is a secondary objective. Further, the Policy states that the City Treasurer has the 
ultimate responsibility to protect, preserve and maintain cash and investments.  The Policy also 
established internal controls and reporting requirements. The Policy stipulates "Permitted Investments 
and Limitation on Investments."  The City invests in the California LAIF, which is part of the Pooled 
Money Investment Account operated by the California State Treasurer. LAIF funds are invested in high 
quality money market securities and are managed to insure the safety of the portfolio. A portion of LAIF's 
investments are in structured notes and asset-backed securities. 
 
Certain disclosure requirements, if applicable, for deposits and investment risks are specified in the 
following areas:  

 
 Interest Rate Risk  
 Credit Risk 

o Overall  
o Custodial Credit Risk  
o Concentrations of Credit Risk  

 
In addition, other disclosures are specified including use of certain methods to present deposits and 
investments, highly sensitive investments, credit quality at year-end and other disclosures.  

43

D
R

AFT 01.16.20 2PM



City of Clayton 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 

For the year ended June 30, 2019 
 

 
 

 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued  
 
Prepaid Items 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future fiscal years and are recorded as prepaid 
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.  Prepaid items in governmental funds are 
equally offset by amounts included nonspendable fund balance which indicates that they do not 
constitute available spendable resources even though they are a component of net position.  The cost of 
prepaid items is recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed rather than when purchased. 
 
Investment in Affordable Housing 
 
This City Successor Housing Agency special revenue fund has purchased and re-sold several housing 
properties located in Stranahan Circle to low and moderate income households.  The City carries the 
difference between the cost and sale on these properties as an investment in affordable housing until the 
property is either bought back by the City or sold on the open market.  The City participates in the profits 
on any sales of these properties to an outside party in the same proportion as what the low and moderate 
income purchaser acquired the property from the City at the below market subsidized value.  The City 
reports the investment in affordable housing at its proportionate equity share of the fair market value of 
the underlying properties at year-end.  Stranahan Circle properties are considered “level 2” investments.  
The City values their interest in the properties annually using third party published market inputs.  At 
June 30, 2019 the fair value was $2,470,781, which includes an increase of $157,155 for the year then ended. 
 
Capital Assets  
 
Capital assets are valued at cost or, during the initial implementation, estimated historical cost if actual 
historical cost was not available. Donated capital assets are valued at their estimated fair market value 
on the date donated.  Donated capital assets, donated works of art and similar items, and capital assets 
received in a service concession arrangement are reported at acquisition value rather than fair value.  
City policy has set the capitalization threshold for reporting infrastructure at $100,000; all other capital 
assets are set at $5,000. Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives of the 
assets as follows: 
 
     Buildings       50 years  
     Improvements other than buildings 20 – 75 years 
     Vehicles, machinery and equipment 5 – 10 years  
     Infrastructure      20 – 75 years 

 
In June 1999, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement No. 34 which 
requires the inclusion of infrastructure capital assets in local governments' basic financial statements. In 
accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, the City has included all infrastructure into the current basic 
financial statements.   The City defines infrastructure as the basic physical assets that allow the City to 
function. The assets include streets, park lands, and buildings.  Each major infrastructure system can be 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued  
 
Capital Assets, Continued  
 
divided into subsystems.  For example, the street system can be subdivided into pavement, curb and 
gutters, sidewalks, medians, streetlights, landscaping and land.  These subsystems were not delineated 
in the basic financial statements.  The appropriate operating department maintains information 
regarding the subsystems.  Interest accrued during capital assets construction, if any, is capitalized for 
the business-type and proprietary funds as part of the asset cost.  For all infrastructure systems, the City 
elected to use the Basic Approach as defined by GASB Statement No. 34 for infrastructure reporting. The 
City commissioned an appraisal of City owned infrastructure and property as of June 30, 2003.  This 
appraisal determined the original cost, which is defined as the actual cost to acquire new property in 
accordance with market prices at the time of first construction/acquisition.  
 
Original costs were developed in one of three ways: (1) historical records; (2) standard unit costs 
appropriate for the construction/acquisition date; or (3) present cost indexed by a reciprocal factor of the 
price increase from the construction/acquisition date to the current date. The accumulated depreciation, 
defined as the total depreciation from the date of construction/acquisition to the current date on a 
straight line, unrecovered cost method was computed using industry accepted life expectancies for each 
infrastructure subsystem.  The book value was then computed by deducting the accumulated 
depreciation from the original cost.  
 
Long-Term Liabilities 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other financial obligations are reported 
as liabilities in the appropriate activities columns.  Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance 
costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method. Bonds payable 
are reported net of the applicable premium or discount. Issuance costs are reported as deferred charges.  
 
The governmental fund financial statements do not present long-term debt, which are shown in the 
reconciliation of the governmental funds balance sheet to the government-wide statement of net position.  
Governmental funds recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the 
current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financial sources. Premiums received 
on debt issuance are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuance reported as 
other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are 
reported as debt service expenditures.  
 
Compensated Absences  
 
In the government-wide financial statements compensated absences are recorded as incurred and related 
expenses and liabilities are reported by activity. The long-term portion of governmental activities is 
liquidated primarily by the General Fund.  In the governmental funds compensated absences are 
recorded as expenditures in the years paid, as it is the City's policy to liquidate any unpaid 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued  
 
Compensated Absences, Continued  
 
compensated absences at June 30th from future resources, rather than currently available financial 
resources.  Compensated absences include vacation as well as compensated leave hours earned in-lieu of 
overtime.  It is the policy of the City to pay eighteen (18) times an employee’s capped monthly vacation 
accrual upon retirement or termination. 
 
Pensions  
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related 
to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the City’s California 
Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) plans (Plans) and additions to/deductions from the 
Plans’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CalPERS. 
For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when 
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. CalPERS’ 
audited financial statements are publicly available reports that can be obtained at CalPERS’ website 
under Forms and Publications. 
 
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) 
 
For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
City’s plan (OPEB Plan) and additions to/deductions from the OPEB Plan’s fiduciary net position have 
been determined on the same basis.  For this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when currently 
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments, if any, are reported at fair value. 
 
Generally accepted accounting principles require that the reported results must pertain to liability and 
asset information within certain defined timeframes.  For this report, the following timeframes are used:  
 
  Valuation date  July 1, 2018 
  Measurement Date   June 29, 2019 
  Measurement Period  July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2019 
 
Net Position / Fund Balances  
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements  
 
In the government-wide financial statements, net position is classified in the following categories:  
 

Net Investment in Capital Assets - This amount consists of capital assets net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by outstanding debt that attributed to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of the assets.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued  
 
Net Position / Fund Balances, Continued  

 
Restricted Net Position - This amount is restricted by external creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws 
or regulations of other governments.  
 
Unrestricted Net Position - This amount is all net position that do not meet the definition of "net 
investment in capital assets" or "restricted net position." Nonspendable governmental funds balances 
are categorized as unrestricted net position on the government-wide financial statements. 

 
Fund Balance Reporting 
 
Equity of governmental funds are reported in classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily 
on the extent to which the government is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which 
amounts in those funds can be spent.  The City Council, as the highest level of decision-making authority, 
commits and assigns fund balances through the passing of resolutions and ordinances, requiring an 
equal action for modification or rescinding thereof.  It is the policy of the City to spend funds in order 
from restricted to unassigned, as listed below. 
 
Fund balances for the governmental funds are made up of the following: 
 

 Non-spendable – Includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not in spendable 
form, or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 

 Restricted – Includes amounts that should be reported as restricted when constraints placed on 
the use of resources are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws 
and regulations of other governments; or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or 
enabling legislation. 

 Committed – Includes amounts that cannot be used for any other purpose unless the government 
removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action it employed to previously 
commit those amounts.  

 Assigned – Includes amounts constrained by the government’s intent to be used for specific 
purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed, except for stabilization arrangements. 

 Unassigned – The residual funds that have not been assigned to other funds, are not non-
spendable, restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes. The General Fund is the only 
fund that reports a positive unassigned fund balance. 

 
The City Council has formally adopted a policy requiring a minimum General Fund reserve contingency 
of $250,000.   
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued  
 
Net Position / Fund Balances, Continued  
 
Property tax revenues are recognized in the fiscal year for which the tax and assessment is levied. The 
County of Contra Costa (County) levies, bills, and collects property taxes and special assessments for the 
City. The County remits the entire amount levied and handles all delinquencies, retaining interest and 
penalties (under the Teeter Plan). Secured and unsecured property taxes are levied on July 1 based on 
January 1 assessed valuation and are payable in two installments, becoming delinquent on December 
10th and April 10th.  
 
Reclassifications 
 
Certain prior year balances may have been reclassified in order to conform to current year presentation.  
These reclassifications had no effect upon reported net position. 
 
Use of Estimates  
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions.  These estimates 
and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities. In addition, estimates affect the reported amount of expenses. Actual results could 
differ from these estimates and assumptions.  
 
Inter-fund Balances/Internal Balances  
 
Outstanding balances between funds are reported as due to and due from other funds. These are 
generally repaid within the following fiscal year.  
 
Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are 
reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances." 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements  
 
The following Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements have been implemented in the 
current financial statements: 

 
 GASB Statement No. 83 – “Certain Asset Retirement Obligations” 

 
This Statement addresses accounting and financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations 
(AROs).  An ARO is a legally enforceable liability associated with the retirement of a tangible capital 
asset.  A government that has legal obligations to perform future asset retirement activities related to 
its tangible capital assets should recognize a liability based on the guidance in this Statement. 
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1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued  
 
New Accounting Pronouncements, Continued 

 
The objective of this Statement is to improve comparability of financial statements among governments 
by establishing uniform criteria for governments to recognize and measure certain AROs, including 
obligations that may not have been previously reported. This statement will enhance the decision-
usefulness of the information provided to financial statement users by requiring disclosures related to 
those AROs. 
 
The implementation of this pronouncement did not have a significant impact on the City’s financial 
statements. 
 

 GASB Statement No. 88, “Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct 
Placements” 
 
The objective of this Statement is to improve the information that is disclosed in notes to government 
financial statements related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct placements. It also 
clarifies which liabilities governments should include when disclosing information related to debt. 
This Statement defines debt for purposes of disclosure in notes to financial statements as a liability 
that arises from a contractual obligation to pay cash (or other assets that may be used in lieu of cash) 
in one or more payments to settle an amount that is fixed at the date the contractual obligation is 
established. 

 
The implementation of this pronouncement did not have a significant impact on the City’s financial 
statements. 
 

Future Accounting Pronouncements  
 
The following Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements are effective in future years 
subsequent to the current financial reporting period: 
 
 GASB Statement No. 87, “Leases” 
 

The objective of this Statement is to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by 
improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments. This Statement increases 
the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets 
and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows 
of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes 
a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of 
the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease 
liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease 
receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of 
information about governments’ leasing activities.  
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1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued  
 
Future Accounting Pronouncements, Continued 

 
This Statement will increase the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring 
reporting of certain lease liabilities that currently are not reported. It will enhance comparability of 
financial statements among governments by requiring lessees and lessors to report leases under a 
single model.  
 
This Statement also will enhance the decision-usefulness of the information provided to financial 
statement users by requiring notes to financial statements related to the timing, significance, and 
purpose of a government’s leasing arrangements. 

 
The City is required to implement the provisions of this Statement for the fiscal year ending June 30, 
2021 (effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2019). The City has not yet determined the 
impact of this Statement on the financial statements. 
 

 GASB Statement No. 89, “Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period” 
 
The objectives of this Statement are (1) to enhance the relevance and comparability of information 
about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and (2) to simplify accounting 
for interest costs incurred before the end of a construction period. Such interest cost covered in the 
scope of this Statement includes all interest that previously was accounted for in accordance with the 
requirements of paragraphs 5-22 of Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial 
Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, which 
are superseded by this Statement. 

 
The City is required to implement the provisions of this Statement for the fiscal year ending June 30, 
2021 (effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2019). The City has not yet determined the 
impact of this Statement on the financial statements. 
 

 GASB Statement No. 90 “Majority Equity Interests – an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and 61” 
 
The primary objectives of this Statement are to improve the consistency and comparability of 
reporting a government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization and to improve 
the relevance of financial statement information for certain component units. It defines a majority 
equity interest and specifies that a majority equity interest in a legally separate organization should 
be reported as an investment if a government’s holding of the equity interest meets the definition of 
an investment. A majority equity interest that meets the definition of an investment should be 
measured using the equity method, unless it is held by a special-purpose government engaged only 
in fiduciary activities, a fiduciary fund, or an endowment (including permanent and term 
endowments) or permanent fund. Those governments and funds should measure the majority equity 
interest at fair value. 
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1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued  
 
Future Accounting Pronouncements, Continued 

 
The City is required to implement the provisions of this Statement for the fiscal year ending June 30, 
2020 (effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2018). The City has not yet determined the 
impact of this Statement on the financial statements. 
 

 GASB Statement No. 91 “Conduit Debt Obligations” 
 
The primary objectives of this Statement are to provide a single method of reporting conduit debt 
obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice associated with (1) commitments extended 
by issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations, and (3) related note 
disclosures. 

 
The requirements of this Statement will improve financial reporting by eliminating the existing 
option for issuers to report conduit debt obligations as their own liabilities, thereby ending significant 
diversity in practice. The clarified definition will resolve stakeholders’ uncertainty as to whether a 
given financing is, in fact, a conduit debt obligation. Requiring issuers to recognize liabilities 
associated with additional commitments extended by issuers and to recognize assets and deferred 
inflows of resources related to certain arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations also 
will eliminate diversity, thereby improving comparability in reporting by issuers. Revised disclosure 
requirements will provide financial statement users with better information regarding the 
commitments issuers extend and the likelihood that they will fulfill those commitments. That 
information will inform users of the potential impact of such commitments on the financial resources 
of issuers and help users assess issuers’ roles in conduit debt obligations. 

 
The City is required to implement the provisions of this Statement for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2022 (effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020). Earlier application is 
encouraged. The City has not yet determined the impact of this Statement on the financial statements. 
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Classification 
 
The City’s total cash and investments, at fair value, are presented on the accompanying financial 
statements in the following allocation: 
 
  Government-Wide Statement of Net Position 
  Governmental Activities 
   Cash and investments $ 11,917,823 
 Statements of Fiduciary Net Position 
  Private Purpose Trust Fund 
   Cash and investments  738,952 
   Cash with fiscal agents  55 
  Agency Funds 
   Cash and investments  1,920,080 
   Cash and investments with fiscal agents  383,727 
   Investments in bonds  1,696,000 
    Total $ 16,656,637 
 
  Cash and investments as of June 30, 2019 consist of the following: 
   Cash on hand $ 1,000 
   Deposits with financial institutions  1,666,801 
   Investments  14,988,566 
    Total $ 16,656,637 
 
Policy 
 
Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and the City's Investment Policy 
 
The following table identifies the investment types that are authorized for the City of Clayton by the 
California Government Code (or the City's investment policy, where more restrictive). The table also 
identifies certain provisions of the California Government Code (or the City's investment policy, where 
more restrictive) that address interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk.  This table 
does not address investments of debt proceeds held by bond trustee that are governed by the provisions 
of debt agreements of the City, rather than the general provisions of the California Government Code or 
the Agency's investment policy. 
 
        Maximum   Maximum 
     Maximum   Percentage of   Percentage of 
  Authorized Investment Type   Maturity   Portfolio   One Issuer  
 Local Agency Investment Fund (State Pool)   N/A   None   $40 million 
 Money Market Funds    N/A   None   None 
 U.S. Treasury Obligations   5 years   None   None 
 U.S. Government Agency Issues   5 years   20%   None 
 Bank Deposits    N/A   None   None 
 Negotiable Time Certificates of Deposit   5 years   None   None 
 Medium Term Corporate Bonds   5 years   20%   None 
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 
 
Policy, Continued 
 
Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements 
 
Investments of debt proceeds held by bond trustees are governed by provisions of the debt agreements, 
rather than the general provisions of the California Government Code or the City's investment policy. 
The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for investments held by bond trustees. 
The table also identifies certain provisions of these debt agreements that address interest rate risk, credit 
risk, and concentration of credit risk. 
 
        Maximum   Maximum 
     Maximum   Percentage of   Investment in 
  Authorized Investment Type   Maturity   Portfolio   One Issuer  
 Money Market Mutual Funds   N/A   N/A   N/A 
 U.S. Government Agency Issues   5 years   20%   None 
 Federal Housing Administration Debentures  N/A   N/A   N/A 
 Commercial paper    92 days   N/A   N/A 
 Demand or time deposits   366 days   N/A   N/A 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment.  Usually, the later the maturity of an investment the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to 
changes in market interest rates.  Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the City’s 
investments (including investments held by bond trustees) to market interest rate fluctuations is 
provided by the following table that shows the distribution of investments by maturity: 
 
          Remaining Maturity (in Months)     
       12 Months or   13-24    25-36    37-48   49-60 
 Investment Type   Totals   Less   Months    Months    Months   Months  
Pooled Investments:   
 State Investment Pool   $ 2,384,091  $ 2,384,091  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -
 Certificates of Deposit    10,210,739   2,397,668   2,176,786   2,727,970   1,698,570   1,209,745
 U.S. Government Agency Notes    697,736   -   697,736   -   -   - 
Held by Bond Trustees: 
 U.S. Treasury Note    -   -   -   -   -   - 
 Municipal Bonds      1,696,000   383,000   409,000   434,000   470,000   - 
  Total Investments   $ 14,988,566  $ 5,164,759  $ 3,283,522  $ 3,161,970  $ 2,168,570  $ 1,209,745
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder 
of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical 
rating organization. Presented below is the minimum rating required by (where applicable) the 
California Government Code, the City's investment policy, or debt agreements, and the actual rating as 
of fiscal year end for each investment type. 
 
  Investment Type    AAA    AA+    A    Unrated    Total  
  Pooled Investments:  
   State Investment Pool   $  -  $  -  $  -  $ 2,384,091  $ 2,384,091 
   Certificates of Deposit     -    -    -   10,210,739   10,210,739 
   U.S Government Agency Notes    -   697,736    -   -   697,736 
  Held by Bond Trustees: 
   U.S. Treasury Notes     -    -    -   -   - 
   Municipal Bonds     -    -    -   1,696,000   1,696,000 
    Total Investments   $  -  $ 697,736  $  -  $ 14,290,830  $ 14,988,566 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
This is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s investment in a single issuer.  
Accordingly, the notes to the financial statements should disclose if the government has five (5) percent 
or more of its total investments in a single issuer.  More than five percent of the City’s investments are 
with the “Middle School” Community Facilities District No. 1990-1.   
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial 
institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The custodial credit risk for investments is the 
risk that, in the event of the failure of the counter party (e.g. broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government 
will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of 
another party.  The California Government Code and the City's investment policy do not contain legal 
or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits or investments, 
other than the following provision for deposits.  The California Government Code requires that a 
financial institution secure deposits made by state or local governmental units by pledging securities in 
an undivided collateral pool held by a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the 
governmental unit). The fair value of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 110% 
of the total amount deposited by the public agencies. California law also allows financial institutions to 
secure City deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the secured 
public deposits. 
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2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 
 
Investment Fair Value 
 
The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2019: 
 

 U.S. government agency note, certificates of deposit, and LAIF values are based on unadjusted 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date [Level 1 
inputs]. 

 Municipal bonds are valued based on unobservable inputs (supported by little or no market 
activity, such as the City’s best estimate of what hypothetical market participants would use to 
determine a transaction price for the asset or liability at the reporting date) [Level 3 inputs]. 

 
The City is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by the 
California Government Code under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California. The fair 
value of the City's investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying financial statements at 
amounts based upon the City's pro-rata share of the fair value provided by LAIF for the entire LAIF 
portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio). The balance available for withdrawal is 
based on the accounting records maintained by LAIF, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis. 
 
 
3. LOANS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE 
 
The following is a summary of loans and notes receivable of the City for the year ended June 30, 2019: 
 
     Balance         Balance at 
     July 1, 2018   Additions   Deletions   June 30, 2019 
 General Fund: 
  Oak Street Bridge Assessment District Loan   $ 3,958  $  -  $  -  $  3,958 
   Total General Fund     3,958    -    -    3,958
         
 Successor Housing Agency:     
  Diamond Terrace P.A.M. Note    3,137,800    -   (96,400)   3,041,400 
  Eden Affordable Housing Note    567,000    -    -   567,000 
  Stranahan Affordable Housing Notes    156,800    -   (71,271)   85,529 
  Successor Agency SERAF Loan    444,309    -   (148,103)   296,206 
   Total Successor Housing Agency    4,305,909    -   (315,774)   3,990,135 
    Total Notes Receivable   $ 4,309,867  $  -  $ (315,774)  $ 3,994,093 
 
Oak Street Bridge Assessment District Loan 
 
In fiscal year 1999, the General Fund provided $48,310 in funding for a portion of the Oak Street Bridge 
project and recorded a note receivable from the Oak Street Bridge Assessment District.  The note, which 
bears interest at 6%, is being paid off over 20 years. As of June 30, 2019 the outstanding balance due to 
the General Fund was $3,958. 
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3. LOANS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE, Continued 
 
Diamond Terrace Note 
 
On September 21, 1999, the former RDA low-moderate housing fund made a loan to the Professional 
Apartment Management, Inc. ("PAM") in the amount of $750,000, at a non-interest bearing rate, to 
construct and develop an affordable senior assisted living center on the site known as "Diamond Terrace."  
The note is secured by the Deed of Trust.  The former RDA loaned an additional $1,286,000 on October 
24, 2001.  On December 1, 2003, PAM began drawing on a $2,000,000 loan from the former RDA in the 
amount of $200,000 annually.  The principal balance is payable commencing on October 1, 2005 through 
October 1, 2030.  The balance of the loan due to the Successor Housing Agency was $3,041,400 at June 30, 
2019.  
 
Eden Housing Loan 
 
On October 13, 1992, the former RDA low-moderate housing fund made a loan to the Peace Grove, Inc. 
in the amount of $567,000, at a non-interest bearing rate, for the purchase of land for a redevelopment 
and housing project for low-income mental health system clients.  The loan is secured by the Deed of 
Trust. The principal balance is payable on December 18, 2052. As of June 30, 2019, the outstanding balance 
of the loan due to the Successor Housing Agency was $567,000.  
 
Stranahan Affordable Housing Loans 
 
The former RDA low-moderate housing fund participated in a second mortgage assistance program, 
whereby qualified applicants are loaned money for a "silent second" down payment to purchase a 
home in the Stranahan Development within the City. There are five individual loans outstanding.  
Interest is accrued on the principal for the first 15-35 years and then the total of accrued interest and 
principal is forgiven over the last 10 years of the term of the lease.  As of June 30, 2019, the outstanding 
balance of the loans due to the Successor Agency was $85,529 of principal.  The collectability of the 
accrued interest on these notes ($24,114) is doubtful and an allowance has been recorded to offset the 
full amount. 
 
SERAF Loan 
 
On May 10, 2011, the former RDA received a loan from the low-moderate housing fund in the amount 
of $592,412 to partially cover a demand from the California Department of Finance for property tax 
revenues to K-12 schools during the 2011-12 fiscal year via the Supplemental Educational Revenue 
Augmentation Funds (SERAF).  Pursuant to the California Department of Finance determination letter 
approving the 2017-18 Recognized Obligation Payment Schedule (ROPS) dated March 17, 2017, the loan 
will be repaid by the Successor Agency through the ROPS process in four (4) installments and matures 
in the fiscal year ending June 20, 2021.  The loan is non-interest bearing.  The outstanding balance at June 
30, 2019 was $296,206. 
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4. INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS  
 
Due To, Due From  
 
At June 30, 2019, the City had the following short-term interfund receivables and payables:  

 
      Due from   
     Non-major        
     Governmental    Endeavor   
  Due to   Funds    Hall   Total  
  General Fund   $  238,548  $  69,252  $  307,800 
  Total   $  238,548  $  69,252  $  307,800 
 

General Fund cash flow loans totaling $307,800 were made to non-major governmental funds and 
Endeavor Hall.  The balance of the Endeavor Hall receivable is expected to be repaid from future facility 
rental fees.  
 
Interfund Transfers 
 
The following is a summary of the City’s interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2019: 
 
          Transfers in         
          Capital    Non-major    Internal 
      General    Improvement   Governmental   Service  
  Transfers out    Fund    Program    Funds    Funds    Total  
  General Fund    $  -  $  -  $  -  $ 100,000  $ 100,000 
  Landscape Management District    37,258    -    -    -    37,258 
  Non-Major Governmental Funds   77,795   1,146,118    -    -   1,223,913 
   Total    $ 115,053  $ 1,146,118  $ -  $ 100,000  $ 1,361,171  

 
The City transferred $115,053 into the General Fund from the following funds: Clayton Landscape 
Maintenance District ($37,258) and non-major governmental funds ($77,795) to reimburse the City for 
administrative support activities.  In addition, the City transferred $1,146,118 from non-major 
governmental funds into the Capital Improvement Program (CIP) capital projects fund to defray capital 
project costs associated with the following projects:  City Hall ADA Accessibility (CIP No. 10433), City 
Hall HVAC and Boiler Replacement (CIP No. 10444), 2018 Neighborhood Street Repave (CIP No. 10436), 
El Molino Sewer Rehabilitation project (CIP No. 10422), Keller Ridge Collector Street Rehabilitation (CIP 
No. 10425), Oak Street Bungalows Demolition (CIP No. 10445), Green Infrastructure Plan (CIP No. 
10451), and the Neighborhood Streets Pavement Preservation in various locations (CIP No, 10436).  
Furthermore, in accordance with City Council action, transfers totaling $100,000 were made to internal 
service funds to provide seed funding for the newly established Pension Rate Stabilization Fund to help 
mitigate the risk of employer pension contribution volatility to future operational budgets caused by 
external financial market conditions and changing actuarial assumptions. 
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5. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements  
 
As of June 30, 2019 the City's capital assets consisted of the following:  
 
     Governmental   Business-Type   Total 
     Activities   Activities     
 Net depreciable Assets: 
  Construction in progress   $ 1,113,865  $ -  $ 1,113,865
  Land     2,086,965   167,738   2,254,703 
  Total non depreciable assets    3,200,830   167,738   3,368,568 
 Depreciable Assets:    
  Buildings     5,895,576   1,400,744   7,296,320 
  Improvements     6,605,298   159,579   6,764,877 
  Machinery and equipment    1,624,582   5,024   1,629,606 
  Infrastructure     32,340,382   -   32,340,382 
   Total depreciable assets    46,465,838   1,565,347   48,031,185 
 Total accumulated depreciation    (19,875,962)   (622,600)   (20,498,562) 
  Depreciable assets, net     26,589,876   942,747   27,532,623 
   Total governmental activities capital assets, net   $ 29,790,706  $ 1,110,485  $ 30,901,191 

 
The following is a summary of governmental activities capital assets transactions for the year ended June 
30, 2019: 
 
     Balance         Balance 
     July 1, 2018   Additions   Deletions   June 30, 2019  
 Non depreciable Assets: 
  Construction in progress   $ 484,427  $ 1,729,570  $ (1,100,132)  $ 1,113,865 
  Land     2,086,965   -   -   2,086,965 
   Total non depreciable assets    2,571,392   1,729,570   (1,100,132)   3,200,830 
 Depreciable Assets: 
  Machinery and equipment    1,536,686   128,289   (40,393)   1,624,582 
  Buildings     5,895,576   -   -   5,895,576 
  Improvements     6,338,893   266,405   -   6,605,298 
  Infrastructure     31,506,656   833,726   -   32,340,382 
   Total depreciable assets    45,277,811   1,228,420   (40,393)   46,465,838 
  Accumulated depreciation:  
  Machinery and equipment    (1,097,424)   (77,252)   40,393   (1,134,283) 
  Buildings     (2,721,309)   (117,727)   -   (2,839,036) 
  Improvements     (2,491,594)   (270,924)   -   (2,762,518) 
  Infrastructure     (12,562,366)   (577,759)   -   (13,140,125) 
   Total accumulated depreciation    (18,872,693)   (1,043,662)   40,393   (19,875,962) 
    Depreciable assets, net    26,405,118   184,758   -   26,589,876 
     Total governmental activities 
     capital assets, net   $ 28,976,510  $ 1,914,328  $ (1,100,132)  $ 29,790,706 
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5. CAPITAL ASSETS, Continued  
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements, Continued 
 
For the year ending June 30, 2019 depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the 
governmental activities as follows: 
 
 General government   $ 73,578 
 Parks and recreation    241,001 
 Public safety     50,390 
 Public works     678,693 

  Total depreciation expense   $ 1,043,662  
 

The following is a summary of business-type activities capital assets transactions for the year ended June 
30, 2019: 
 
     Balance         Balance 
     July 1, 2018   Additions   Deletions   June 30, 2019  
 Non depreciable Assets: 
  Land   $ 167,738  $ -  $ -  $ 167,738 
   Total non depreciable assets    167,738   -   -   167,738 
 Depreciable Assets: 
  Machinery and equipment    5,024   -   -   5,024 
  Improvements     159,579   -   -   159,579 
  Buildings     1,400,744   -   -   1,400,744 
   Total depreciable assets    1,565,347   -   -   1,565,347 
  Accumulated depreciation:  
  Machinery and equipment    (4,768)   (3,686)   -   (8,454) 
  Buildings     (451,530)   (28,337)   -   (479,867) 
  Improvements     (129,302)   (4,977)   -   (134,279) 
   Total accumulated depreciation    (585,600)   (37,000)   -   (622,600) 
    Depreciable assets, net    979,747   (37,000)   -   942,747 
     Total business-type activities 
     capital assets, net   $ 1,147,485  $ (37,000)  $ -  $ 1,110,485 
 
 
For the year ending June 30, 2019 depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the 
business-type activities as follows: 
 
 Endeavor Hall   $ 37,000  
  Total depreciation expense   $ 37,000 
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5. CAPITAL ASSETS, Continued  
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The governmental fund financial statements do not present general government capital assets, which are 
shown in the Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Government-Wide 
Statement of Net Position.  The capital assets of the enterprise funds in the Proprietary Fund Financial 
Statements are the same as those shown in the business-type activities of the Government-Wide Financial 
Statements. Internal Service Funds' capital assets are combined with governmental activities.  
 
 
6. COMPENSATED ABSENCES 
 
Compensated absences include vacation and sick leave. It is the policy of the City to pay 100% of the 
capped accumulated vacation leave when a public safety employee retires or terminates, and up to 18 
months of a general employee's maximum annual accrual allowed upon the same leave of employment 
action. The City recognizes the liability for its compensated absences in the governmental activities. The 
following is a summary of compensated absences transactions during the year ended June 30, 2019:  

    Beginning         Ending 
    Balance         Balance   Amount Due in 
    July 1, 2018   Additions   Deletions   June 30, 2019   One Year  

 Compensated absences   $ 150,496  $ 154,463  $ 161,663  $ 143,296  $ 71,648 
 
 
7. CONDUIT DEBT 
 
The following debt issuances were issued by the City for the express purpose of providing capital 
financing for third parties that are not part of the primary government of the City.  Although these 
conduit debt obligations may bear the name of the City, the City has no obligation for such debt beyond 
the resources provided by a lease or loan with the third party on whose behalf they are issued. 
 
Middle School Community Facilities District- Original Issue $6,400,000 
 
Middle School Community Facilities District (CFD) Bonds in the principal amount of $6,400,000 were 
issued on September 2, 1990 by the City under the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act of 1982.  
Principal payments are payable on September 2 of each year. Interest payments are payable semi-
annually on March 2 and September 2. The bonds are non-city obligations and are secured solely by 
special assessment revenue from CFD No. 1990-1.  As of June 30, 2019, the outstanding balance of the 
non-city bond obligation was $1,696,000.  
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7. CONDUIT DEBT, Continued 
 
Lydia Lane Sewer Assessment District-Original Issue $228,325 
 
Lydia Lane Sewer Assessment District Bonds in the principal amount of $228,325 were issued on August 
5, 2002 by the City. Principal payments are payable on September 2 of each year. Interest payments are 
payable semi-annually on March 2 and September 2.  The bonds are non city obligations and are secured 
by sewer assessment district revenue.  As of June 30, 2019, the outstanding balance of the non-city bond 
obligation was $153,325. 
 
Clayton Financing Authority 2007 Special Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds-Original Issue $5,060,000 
 
Refunding bonds were issued on May 17, 2007 by the Clayton Financing Authority in the principal 
amount of $5,060,000 to refund the Authority's 1997 Special Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (the "1997 
Bonds"), finance the acquisition and construction of certain public capital improvements (the Project), 
establish a reserve fund for the Bonds (funded part in cash and part from a reserve fund surety bond), 
and to pay the costs of issuance of the Bonds.  The 1997 Bonds were issued to purchase the CFD 1990-1 
local obligations, which are recovered by special assessment revenues from CFD 1990-1. Principal 
payments are payable on September 2 of each year. Interest payments are payable semi-annually on 
March 2 and September 2.  The bonds are non city obligations and are secured by revenues received by 
the Authority as the result of the payment of debt service on the CFD 1990-1 Local Obligations.  As of 
June 30, 2019, the outstanding balance of the non-city bond obligation was $1,550,000. 
 
 
8. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
Deficit Fund Equity 
 
At June 30, 2019, the following funds reported a deficit fund balance or net position:  
 
 Non-major governmental funds 
  Stormwater Treatment District Fund   $ (2,550) 
  Measure J    (165,787) 
   Total governmental funds   $ (168,337) 
 
The deficits in these non-major special revenue funds are expected to be recovered from future revenues. 
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9. UNEARNED AND DEFERRED REVENUE 
 
Unearned Revenue 
 
Unearned revenues in the government-wide financial statements represent amounts for which revenues 
have not been earned.  At June 30, 2019, unearned revenues in the government-wide financial statements 
were as follows: 
 
      Governmental 
      Activities  
 Unearned revenue 
  Prepaid rental revenue   5,935 
   Total unearned revenue   $ 5,935 
 
At June 30, 2019 unearned revenues in the fund financial statements were as follows: 
 
         Total 
      General   Governmental 
      Fund   Funds  
 Unearned revenue 
  Prepaid rental revenue   5,935  $ 5,935 
   Total unearned revenue   $ 5,935  $ 5,935 

 
Deferred Revenue 
 
Deferred inflows of resources were recorded in the fund financial statements because the funds were not 
available to finance expenditures of the current period.  At June 30, 2019, deferred inflows of resources 
in the fund financial statements were as follows.  
 
          Successor   Total 
       General   Housing   Governmental 
       Fund   Agency   Funds  
 Deferred revenue 
  Unavailable state-mandated 
   program reimbursements   $ 269,444  $ -  $ 296,444 
  Unavailable loans receivable   3,958  3,041,400  3,045,358 
    Total deferred revenue   $ 273,402  $ 3,041,400  $ 3,314,802 
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10. RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
The City participates in the Municipal Pooling Authority of Northern California (MPA), a joint powers 
agreement between twenty cities, which provides insurance coverage for liability, auto, property, and 
workers' compensation claims. Claims liabilities are accrued when it is probable that a loss has occurred 
and the amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated.  The MPA covers claims in an amount up to 
$29,000,000. The City has a deductible of $5,000 per claim for liability cases and no deductible for workers' 
compensation claims. Once the City's deductible is met, the MPA becomes responsible for payment of 
all claims and legal defense.   The MPA is governed by a board consisting of one voting representative 
from each member municipality. The Board controls the operations of the MPA including selection of 
management, approval of operating budgets, and is independent of any influence by member 
municipalities beyond their representation on the Board.  The City's general liability and workers’ 
compensation premium payments made to MPA for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 are in accordance 
with formulas established by the MPA.  Actual surpluses or losses are shared according to a formula 
developed from overall loss costs and spread to member entities on a percentage basis after a 
retrospective rating.  Financial statements may be obtained from MPA at 1911 San Miguel Drive, Suite 
200, Walnut Creek, CA 94596.  The City has had no settlements which exceeded insurance coverage 
during fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.  Estimates of incurred, but not reported, liability claims are 
included in the City's claims estimates and based upon historical experiences as calculated by the MPA.  
 
 
11. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 
 
Plan Description 
 
The Plan is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the California 
Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS).  A full description of the pension plan benefit 
provisions, assumptions for funding purposes (not accounting purposes) and membership information 
is listed in the latest Annual Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2017. This report is a publicly 
available valuation report that can be obtained at CalPERS’ website under Forms and Publications. All 
qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the City’s separate Public 
Safety (police) and Miscellaneous (all other) defined benefit pension plans.  Both the Public Safety and 
Miscellaneous plans are part of the public agency cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit 
pension plan (PERF C), which is administered by CalPERS.  PERF C consists of a Safety and 
Miscellaneous pool (also referred to as “risk pools”), which are comprised of individual employer safety 
and miscellaneous rate plans, respectively.  Benefit provisions under the Plan are established by State 
statute and City resolution.  CalPERS issues publicly available reports that include a full description of 
the pension plans regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and membership information that can be 
obtained from CalPERS at 400 Q Street, Sacramento, CA 95811. 
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11. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, Continued 
 
Benefits Provided 
 
CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living adjustments and death 
benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries. Benefits are based on years 
of credited service, equal to one year of full time employment. Members with five years of total service 
become vested and are eligible to retire at age 50 with statutorily reduced benefits. All members are 
eligible for non-duty disability benefits after 10 years of service. The death benefit is one of the following: 
the Basic Death Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. The cost 
of living adjustments for each plan are applied as specified by the Public Employees’ Retirement Law.  
The Plans’ provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2019, are summarized as follows: 
 
     Miscellaneous Pension Plan  
     Tier I   Tier II   Tier III (PEPRA)*  
 
 Hire Date   Before 7/1/2010   On or after   On or after 
        7/1/2020 but    1/1/2013 
        Before 1/1/2013 
 
 Benefit formula   2% @ 55   2% @ 60   2% @ 62 
 Benefit vesting schedule   5 years of service   5 years of service   5 years of service 
 Benefit payments   Monthly for life   Monthly for life   Monthly for life 
 Minimum retirement age   50   50   52 
 Monthly benefits, as % of 
  eligible compensation   1.426% - 2.418%   1.092% - 2.418%   1.0% - 2.5% 
 
     Safety Pension Plan  

     Tier I   Tier II   Tier III (PEPRA)*  
  
 Hire Date   Before 7/1/2020   On or after   On or after 
        7/1/2010 but   1/1/2013 
        Before 1/1/2013 
  
 Benefit formula   3% @ 55   2% @ 50   2.7% @ 57 
 Benefit vesting schedule   5 years of service   5 years of service   5 years of service 
 Benefit payments   Monthly for life   Monthly for life   Monthly for life 
 Minimum retirement age   50   50   50 
 Monthly benefits, as % of 
  eligible compensation   2.4% - 3.0%   2.0% - 2.7%   2.0% - 2.7% 
 
*The California Public Employees’ Reform Act (PEPRA) was enacted in 2012 and became effective 
January 1, 2013. 
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11. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, Continued 
 
Employees Covered 
 
At June 30, 2019 the following employees were covered by the benefit terms for each plan: 
 
    Miscellaneous   Public Safety  
    Tier I   Tier II   PEPRA   Tier I   Tier II   PEPRA 
 Inactive employees (or their beneficiaries) 
  currently receiving benefits    32   1   -   33   -   - 
 Inactive employees entitled to but not yet 
  receiving benefits    8   2   1   4   1   1 
 Active employees    5   3   7   4   -   7 
   Total    45   6   8   41   1   8 
 
Contributions 
 
Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law (PERL) requires that the employer 
contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and shall be 
effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate.  The total plan contributions are determined 
through the CalPERS’ annual actuarial valuation process.  The Plan’s actuarially determined rate is based 
on the estimated amount necessary to pay the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, 
with an additional amount to pay any unfunded accrued liability.  The employer is required to contribute 
the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. 

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the City’s contractually required contributions, which are actuarially 
determined, were as follows: 
     Employer Contributions  
     Normal Cost   Unfunded     
     Percentage of   Actuarial   Total 
   Pension Plan   Payroll   Liability     
  Miscellaneous Tier I   $ 44,024  $ 165,933  $ 209,957 
  Miscellaneous Tier II    17,188   801   17,989 
  Miscellaneous PEPRA    35,578   2,060   37,638 
  Public Safety Tier I    68,820   121,090   189,910 
  Public Safety Tier II    -   849   849 
  Public Safety PEPRA    72,369   1,355   73,724
   Total   $ 237,979  $ 292,088  $ 530,067 
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11. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, Continued 
 
Contributions, Continued 

 
The following is a summary of actuarially determined employer and contractually determined employee 
pension contribution rates as a percentage of payroll for the year ended June 30, 2019: 
  
      Employer   Employee 
    Pension Plan   Contribution Rate   Contribution Rate  
  Miscellaneous Tier I   8.893   7.0001 
  Miscellaneous Tier II   7.634   7.000 
  Miscellaneous PEPRA   6.842   6.750 
  Public Safety Tier I   17.614   9.000 
  Public Safety Tier II   15.719   9.000 
  Public Safety PEPRA   12.141   12.000 
 
 1 Paid on behalf of employee per labor agreement referred to as  
 “Employee Paid Member Contribution” (EPMC) by CalPERS. 
 
Net Pension Liability 
 
At June 30, 2019, the City reported total net pension liabilities for its proportionate share in both the 
Miscellaneous and Safety plans as follows: 
 
        Proportionate 
     Net Pension Liability   Share of Net  
  Pension Plan   (Asset)   Pension Liability  
  Miscellaneous   $  2,032,594    0.05393% 
  Public Safety     2,640,160    0.04500% 
   Total    $  4,672,754  $  0.04849% 
 

The City’s net pension liability was based on the proportionate shares (in dollars) determined by 
CalPERS based on individual actuarial measurement specific to each rate plan in the Miscellaneous Pool 
and the Safety Pool.  The City’s total proportionate share of the cost-sharing plan pension amounts is the 
sum of the pension amounts allocated to each of the City’s Miscellaneous and Safety rate plans.  The 
City’s net pension liability is measured as of June 30, 2018, using annual actuarial valuations as of June 
30, 2017 rolled forward to June 30, 2018 using standard update procedures.  
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11. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, Continued 
 
Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
 
For the year ending June 30, 2019 the City recognized a total pension expense of $222,922.  At June 30, 
2019 the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 
 
    Deferred   Deferred 
    Outflows of   Inflows of 
    Resources   Resources  
 Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date   $ 530,067  $ - 
 Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
  pension plan investments    27,924   - 
 Change in employer’s proportion    18,059   39,182 
 Changes in assumptions    490,768   91,740 
 Differences between actual and expected experiences    134,715   26,754 
 Differences between the employer’s contributions and the     
  employer’s proportion share of contributions    84,445   27,602 
   Total   $ 1,285,978  $ 185,278 
 
 
Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources, Continued 
 
Of the reported deferred outflows of resources, $530,067 is related to contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 
30, 2020 (measurement period ended June 30, 2019).  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as pension expense as 
follows: 
 
     Deferred Outflows/(Inflows) of Resources  
  Fiscal Year 
  Ending June 30   Miscellaneous   Safety   Total  
  2020   $ 189,781  $ 282,274  $ 472,055 
  2021   104,102  168,014  272,116 
  2022   (71,756)  (65,213)  (136,969) 
  2023   (18,282)  (18,287)  (36,569)  
  2024   -  -  -  
  Thereafter   -  -  - 
  Total   $ 203,845  $ 366,788  $ 570,633 
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11. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, Continued 
 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.15%. To determine whether the 
municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a discount rate for each plan, CalPERS stress 
tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that would be different from the actuarially 
assumed discount rate. Based on the testing, none of the tested plans run out of assets. Therefore, the 
current 7.15% discount rate is adequate and the use of the municipal bond rate calculation is not 
necessary. The long term expected discount rate of 7.15% will be applied to all plans in the PERF C. The 
stress test results are presented in a detailed report that can be obtained from the CalPERS website at 
www.calpers.ca.gov.  
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net 
of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 
 
In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS has taken into account both short-term 
and long-term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Using 
historical returns of all the funds’ asset classes, expected compound returns were calculated over the 
short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term (11-60 years) using a building-block approach. Using the 
expected nominal returns for both short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated 
for each fund. The expected rate of return was set by calculating the single equivalent expected return 
that arrived at the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-
term and long-term returns. The expected rate of return was then set equivalent to the single equivalent 
rate calculated above and rounded down to the nearest one quarter of one percent. 
 
The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class. The rate of return was 
calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset 
allocation. These rates of return are net of administrative expenses. 
 
     New Strategic   Real Return   Real Return 
  Asset Class1   Allocation   Years 1-102   Years 11+3  
  Global Equity   50.00%  4.80%  5.98% 
  Fixed Income   28.00%  1.00%  2.62% 
  Inflation Assets   -  0.77%  1.81% 
  Private Equity   8.00%  6.30%  7.23% 
  Real Assets   13.00%  3.75%  4.93% 
  Liquidity   1.00%  -  -0.92% 
   Total   100.00% 
 
 1In the System’s CAFR, Fixed Income is included in Global Debt Securities:  Liquidity is included 
 In Short-term Investments; Inflation Assets are included in both Global Equity Securities and Global 
 Debt Securities 
 2An expected inflation of 2.00% is used for this period 
 3An expected inflation of 2.92% is used for this period. 
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11. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, Continued 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
 
The following actuarial assumptions and methods were used to calculate the total pension liability as of 
June 30, 2019:  
 
 Valuation Date  June 30, 2017 
 Measurement Date  June 30, 2018 
 Measurement Period  July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018 
 Actuarial Cost Method  Entry-age normal cost method 
 Discount Rate  7.15% 
 Inflation  2.50% 
 Salary Increase  Varies by entry age and service 
 Mortality  Derived using specific CalPERS membership data for all funds.  

  Incorporates 15 years of mortality improvements using Society of  
  Actuaries Scale 90% of scale MP 2016. For more details please refer to the 
  December 2017 experience 

   study report available on the CalPERS website. 
 Post Retirement Benefit Increase  Contract COLA up to 2.50% until purchasing power protection allowance 
   floor on purchasing power applies. 
 
All other actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the fiscal years 1997 to 2015, including updates to salary increase, mortality 
and retirement rates.  The experience study report can be obtained from CalPERS at their website at 
www.calpers.ca.gov under Forms and Publications.   
 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
 
The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability, calculated using the 
discount rate of 7.15%, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability/(asset) 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower  (6.15%) or 1-
percentage point higher (8.15%) than the current rate: 
 
    Miscellaneous   Safety   Total  
  
 1% decrease   6.15%   6.15%   6.15% 
 Net pension liability   $  3,191,717  $  4,170,011  $  7,361,728 
 
 Current discount rate    7.15%    7.15%    7.15% 
 Net pension liability   $  2,032,595  $  2,640,160  $  4,672,754 
  
 1% increase    8.15%    8.15%    8.15% 
 Net pension liability   $  1,075,758  $  1,386,721  $  2,462,479 
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11. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, Continued 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 
Detailed information about each pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued 
CalPERS financial reports.  The plan’s fiduciary net position disclosed per the GASB Statement No. 68 
accounting valuation report may differ from the plan assets reported in the funding actuarial valuation 
report due to several reasons.  For the accounting valuations, CalPERS must keep items such as 
deficiency reserves, fiduciary self-insurance and OPEB expense included as assets.  These amounts are 
excluded for rate setting purposes in the City’s funding actuarial valuation.  In addition, differences may 
result from early financial statement closing and final reconciled reserves. 
 
 
12. OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) 
 
Plan Description 
 
The City of Clayton Retired Employee Health Care Program is a single-employer defined benefit 
healthcare program administered by the City of Clayton.  The program offers medical only (no dental) 
insurance benefits to eligible retirees and their families through the same self-insured program coverage 
to active City employees.  In connection with this, the City has established a plan to provide post-
employment benefits other than pensions as defined in California Public Employees' Retirement Law section 
7500-7514.5.  The plan provides employees who retire directly from the City, at a minimum age of 50, 
with a minimum of five years of service, a cash subsidy for monthly medical insurance premiums to a 
cap of $133 per employee per month as of June 30, 2019.  This monthly subsidy is the statutory minimum 
employer premium contribution under the California Public Employee’s Medical and Health Care Act 
(PEMHCA).  To be eligible for this OPEB health coverage, employees must retire within 120 days of 
separation from employment with the City and also receive a monthly retirement warrant.  Furthermore, 
to be eligible for retiree health benefits, the City of Clayton must still contract with CalPERS for health 
benefits.   Once a retiree becomes eligible for Medicare, these benefits are integrated with the Medicare 
plan.  Separate stand-alone audited financial statements are not issued for this plan. 
 
Employees Covered 
 
As of the July 1, 2018, the date of the latest actuarial valuation, the following current and former 
employees were covered by the benefit terms under the plan: 
 
 Active employees   22 
 Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits   8 
 Inactive employees entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits   - 
  Total employees   30 
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12. OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB), Continued 
 
Contributions 
 
The City does not have an actuarially-determined contribution requirement as an irrevocable trust has 
not yet been established.  The City currently administers the plan on a pay-as-you-go basis with eight (8) 
retirees currently receiving the PEMHCA minimum benefit.  Total retiree OPEB premium payments, 
excluding the implicit rate subsidy of $14,144 were made by the City during the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2019. 
 
Net OPEB Liability 
 
The City’s net OPEB liability was measured as of June 29, 2019 and the total OPEB liability used to 
calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation dated July 1, 2018 that was 
rolled forward to determine the June 30, 2019 total OPEB liability, based on the following actuarial 
methods and assumptions: 
 
 Actuarial Cost Method  Entry Age Normal (AMM) 
 Discount Rate  2.79% 
 Inflation Rate  3.00%   
 Salary Rate Increase  4.00% 
 Mortality Rate  RP-2014 Combined 
    Annuitant Mortality table for 
    males and females 
 Pre-retirement Turnover  80% 
 Funded Ratio  0.00% 
 Health Care Trends   
  Initial Health Care Cost Trend Rate  6.90% 
  Ultimate Health Care Cost Trend Rate  5.00% 
  Fiscal Year the Ultimate Rate is Reached  June 30, 2028 
 
Discount Rate 
 
As of June 30, 2019, the City has not established a dedicated irrevocable trust to pay retiree healthcare 
benefits.  Pursuant to GASBS 75, the discount rate should be a yield or index rate for 20-year, tax-exempt 
general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or higher (or equivalent quality 
on another rating scale).  A rate of 2.79% is used, with is the Standard & Poor’s Municipal Bond 20-Year 
High-Grade Rate Index as of actuarial valuation date. 
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12. OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB), Continued 
 
Changes in the OPEB Liability 
 
The changes in the net OPEB liability for the plan are as follows: 
 
     Total OPEB   Plan Fiduciary   Net OPEB 
     Liability   Net Position   Liability  
 Balances as of July 1, 2018   $ 545,327  $ -  $ 545,327 
 Changes recognized for the measurement period: 
  Service Cost    28,428   -   28,428 
  Interest on total OPEB liability    15,783   -   15,783 
  Changes of benefit terms    -   -   - 
  Difference between expected and actual experience   -   -   - 
  Changes of assumptions and other inputs    9,159   -   9,159 
  Employer contributions    -   -   - 
  Active and inactive employee contributions    -   -   - 
  Net investment income    -   -   - 
  Benefit payments    (31,408)   -   (31,408) 
  Administrative expenses    -   -   - 
  Other changes    2,827   -   2,827 
   Net changes    24,789   -   24,789 
 Balances as of June 30, 2019   $ 570,116  $ -  $ 570,116 

 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

 
The following presents the net OPEB liability of the City if it were calculated using a discount rate that 
is one percentage point lower or higher than the current rate, as of the measurement June 29, 2019 date: 
 
       Current 
    1% Decrease   Discount Rate   1% Increase 
    (1.79%)   (2.79%)   (3.79%)  
 Net OPEB Liability   $ 524,234  $ 570,116  $ 622,701 
 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Health Care Cost Trend Rates 
 
The following presents the net OPEB liability of the City if it were calculated using health care cost trend 
rates that are one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate, for 
measurement the period ended June 29, 2019: 
 
       Current 
    1% Decrease   Discount Rate   1% Increase 
    (5.90%)   (6.90%)   (7.90%)  
 Net OPEB Liability   $ 612,307  $ 570,116  $ 534,244 
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12. OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB), Continued 
 
OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 
As the City has not established an irrevocable trust to pay retiree health care benefits, the plan has a 
fiduciary net position of $0 as of June 30, 2019. 
 
Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
 
Gains and losses related to changes in total OPEB liability and fiduciary net position are recognized in 
OPEB expense systematically over time.  Amounts are first recognized in OPEB expense for the year the 
gain or loss occurs.  The remaining amounts are categorized as deferred outflows and deferred inflows 
of resources related to OPEB and are to be recognized in future OPEB expense over an assumed expected 
average remaining service lifetime (EARSL) of 10.70 years.   
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the City recognized OPEB expense of $16,030.  As of the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2019, the City reported deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related 
to OPEB from the following sources: 
 
    Deferred Outflows   Deferred Inflows 
    of Resources   of Resources  
 Differences between actual and expected experiences   $ 18,418  $ - 
 Changes in assumptions    24,086   13,686 
 Difference between expected and actual earnings on OPEB 
  plan investments    -   - 
   Total   $ 42,504  $ 13,686 

 
As an irrevocable trust for payment of retiree health benefits has not been established, there are no 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date to report, which would otherwise be recognized as a 
reduction of the net OPEB liability in the following fiscal year.  Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized as OPEB expense as 
follows: 
 
     Deferred 
  Fiscal Year Ending  Outflows/(Inflows) 
  June 30   of Resources  
  2020   $ 3,228 
  2021    3,228 
  2022    3,228 
  2023    3,228 
  2024    3,228 
  Thereafter    12,678 
  Total   $ 28,818 
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13. REDEVELOPMENT SUCCESSOR AGENCY ACTIVITIES 
 
Background 
 
On June 28, 2011, the California State Legislature adopted two pieces of legislation - AB IX 26 and AB IX 
27 (the Bill) - that eliminated redevelopment agencies and provided cities with the opportunity to 
preserve their redevelopment agency if they agreed to make certain payments to the County Auditor 
Controller. On behalf of cities and redevelopment agencies throughout the State, the League of California 
Cities and California Redevelopment Association requested a stay on the implementation of both pieces 
of legislation and filed a lawsuit with the California Supreme Court challenging both pieces of 
legislation.  The stay was rejected and on December 29, 2011, the Supreme Court validated AB IX 26 and 
overturned AB IX 27. Further, the Supreme Court indicated that all redevelopment agencies in the State 
of California were to be dissolved and cease operations as a legal entity as of February 1, 2012. 
 
Under the new law, redevelopment agencies in the State of California cannot enter into new projects, obligations, 
or commitments. Subject to the control of a newly established oversight board, remaining assets can only be used 
to pay enforceable obligations in existence at the date of dissolution (including the completion of any unfinished 
project that were subject to legally enforceable contractual commitments). 
 
In fiscal years subsequent to the statutory dissolution date, successor agencies are only allocated revenue in the 
amount that is necessary to pay the estimated annual installment payments on enforceable obligations of the 
former redevelopment agency until all enforceable obligations of the prior redevelopment agency have been 
paid in full and all assets have been liquidated. 
 
The Bill directed the California State Controller to review the propriety of any transfers of assets between 
redevelopment agencies and other public bodies that occurred after January 1, 2011.  If the public body that 
received such transfers is not contractually committed to a third party for the expenditure or encumbrance of 
those assets, the State Controller was required to order the available assets to be transferred to the public body 
designated as the Successor Agency by the Bill. 
 
Amongst numerous requirements, AB IX 26 required the following: 
 

i. Subject to the control of a newly established oversight board, assets of the former redevelopment agency 
must be disposed expeditiously and property tax revenue generated by a former redevelopment agency 
can only be used to pay enforceable obligations (i.e. debt obligations and other third party contractual 
obligations); 

ii. Either the city or another unit of local government may agree to serve as the “Successor Agency” to hold 
the net position until they are distributed to units of state and local government; 

iii. Successor agencies may transfer housing functions of the former redevelopment agency to the appropriate 
entity; and 

iv. Any property tax revenue in excess of enforceable obligations is to be distributed by county auditor 
controllers to taxing entities, which includes the City, as surplus property tax. 
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13. REDEVELOPMENT SUCCESSOR AGENCY ACTIVITIES, Continued 
 

Background, Continued 
 
As a result of the restrictions placed on the assets and liabilities of the former redevelopment agency, they 
were transferred to a private purpose trust fund on February 1, 2012.  Prior to the transfer, the Redevelopment 
Agency was treated as a blended component unit of the City until the fiscal year ending June 30, 2012.  On 
January 11, 2012, the City Council elected to become the Successor Agency to the former Redevelopment 
Agency in accordance with AB IX 26 as part of City resolution number 03-2012. 
 
Subsequent to the adoption of AB IX 26 and AB IX 27, the California State Legislature adopted AB 1484 in 
June 2012.  Among other things, AB 1484 required the following: 

 
i. A process to transfer housing assets of the former redevelopment agency to the entity designated 

to receive these assets.  In the case of the City, assets with a total value of $14,057,320 and 
liabilities with a total value of $10,999,595 were transferred to the Successor Agency from the 
former Redevelopment Agency. 
 

ii. Requirements that the Successor Agency must complete due diligence reviews (DDRs) of the 
assets of the former Low and Moderate Income Housing Fund and all other funds of the former 
redevelopment agency.  The DDRs of the Clayton Successor Agency were finalized and approved 
by the Oversight Board on October 9, 2014 via Resolution No. 2014-04 and 2014-05. These reports 
concluded that payments of $887,404 and $3,791,725 are required to be remitted to Contra Costa 
County by the Redevelopment Successor Agency and Successor Housing Agency respectively.   

 
The California Department of Finance (DOF) completed their review of the low and moderate 
income housing funds and issued a final determination letter to the City dated April 24, 2015 with 
no modifications.  The Successor Housing Agency issued the payment specified by the DOF’s low 
and moderate housing funds determination letter in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2015, resulting 
in a net extraordinary loss of $3,616,725 for the year then ended. 
 
On November 30, 2015, the DOF issued their final determination letter approving the all other 
funds DDR report with modifications.  The modifications required an additional payment of 
$230,983 to the County Auditor-Controller, which was reported as an Extraordinary Loss of the 
City’s General Fund in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016.   The Successor Agency issued the 
payment specified by the DOF’s final all other funds determination letter to the County Auditor-
Controller’s office in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016, resulting in an extraordinary loss of 
$1,025,396 for the year then ended.   
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13. REDEVELOPMENT SUCCESSOR AGENCY ACTIVITIES, Continued 
 

Background, Continued 
 
Upon the DOF’s approval of the DDRs, and the distribution of unobligated funds, the Successor Agency 
is authorized to apply for a “Finding of Completion”. The Finding of Completion enables the Successor 
Agency to transfer and sell land and buildings of the former Redevelopment Agency, subject to the 
review and approval of a Property Management Plan by the State Department of Finance.  In addition 
by receiving the Finding of Completion, the City may establish loans between the City and the former 
Redevelopment Agency as enforceable obligations.  The Clayton Successor Received its finding of 
completion from the DOF on December 30, 2015. 
 
Successor Agency Assets and Liabilities  
 
Cash and Investments 

 
The total cash and investments balance of $738,952 is presented in a format consistent with GASBS 31 
and is presented at fair value. Pursuant to AB IX 26 and AB 1484, all unencumbered cash balances have 
been previously distributed to the County Auditor-Controller for distribution to taxing entitles.  See Note 
2 for further information and disclosures regarding the City’s pooled cash and investments.  
 
Restricted Cash and Investments 

 
Cash and investments with fiscal agents of $55 at June 30, 2019 is restricted cash and investments 
designated for debt service payments. 
 
Inter-Agency Loans 
 
Notes Receivable transferred from former RDA to Successor Agency, effective February 1, 2012: 
 
The former RDA provided assistance to special assessment districts within the City, to fund repairs and 
improvements. The High Street Permanent Road Division and Oak Street Sewer Assessment District 
received loans from the former RDA to finance necessary infrastructure improvements. These loans are 
secured by special assessment property tax levies within the District’s boundaries. As of June 30, 2019, 
the outstanding balance of the loans due to the Successor Agency was $79,747. 
 
On May 10, 2011, the former Redevelopment Agency received a loan from the Low to Moderate Income 
Housing Fund in the amount of $592,412 to partially cover a demand from the California Department of 
Finance (DOF) for property tax revenues to K-12 schools during the fiscal year ending June 30, 2012 via 
the Supplemental Educational Revenue Augmentation Funds (SERAF).  Pursuant to the DOF 
determination letter approving the 2017-18 Recognized Obligation Payment Schedule (ROPS) dated 
March 17, 2017, the loan will be repaid by the Successor Agency through the ROPS process in four (4) 
installments commencing in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.  The loan is non-interest bearing and 
had an outstanding balance due to the Successor Housing Agency of $296,206 as of June 30, 2019. 
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13. REDEVELOPMENT SUCCESSOR AGENCY ACTIVITIES, Continued 
 
Long-Term Debt 
 
The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt transactions for the year ended June 30, 2019: 
  
    Balance         Balance   Due in one 
    July 1, 2018   Additions   Deletions   June 30, 2019   year  
 2014 Tax Refunding   
  Allocation Bonds   $ 2,740,000  $ -  $ (400,000)  $ 2,340,000  $ 415,000 
  Total   $ 2,740,000  $ -  $ (400,000)  $ 2,340,000  $ 415,000 

 
2014 Refunding Tax Allocation Bonds 
 
Refunding Tax Allocation Bonds, Series 2014, in the principal amount of $3,790,000 were issued on June 
25, 2014 by the Successor Agency. Principal payments are payable on August 1 of each year, beginning 
on August 1, 2015. Interest payments are payable semi-annually on February 1 and August 1.   The bonds 
are special obligations of the Successor Agency and are secured by the Successor Agency’s tax increment 
revenue.  
 
The 2014 refunding was exercised in order to take advantage of more favorable interest rates.  The 
refunding decreased the City’s total debt service payments by approximately $601,895.  The 
transaction resulted in economic gain (difference between present value of the debt service on the 
old and new bonds) of approximately $580,184.  For the current year, principal and interest paid were 
$400,000 and $62,250, respectively. 
 
The annual debt service requirements to amortize the Successor Agency’s 2014 Refunding Tax Allocation 
Bonds outstanding at June 30, 2019, were as follows:  
 
  Fiscal Year   
  Ending 
  June 30   Principal   Interest   Total  
  2020   $ 415,000  $ 49,048  $ 464,048  
  2021   420,000  39,445  459,445 
  2022   360,000  30,475  390,475 
  2023   375,000  22,023  397,023 
  2024   380,000  13,340  393,340 
  2025   390,000  4,484  394,484 
  Total   $ 2,340,000  $ 158,815  $ 2,498,815 
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14. EQUITY BALANCES 
 
Governmental Fund Balances  
 
Fund balances are presented in the following categories: non-spendable, restricted, committed, assigned 
and unassigned (see Note 1 for a description of these categories).  A detailed schedule of fund balances 
at June 30, 2019 is as follows: 
 

     Major Funds  
        Landscape   Successor   Capital   Other 
     General   Maintenance   Housing   Improvement  Governmental 
   Fund Balance Classifcations   Fund   District   Agency   Program   Funds   Total  
  
 Nonspendable for: 
  Notes receivable   $ 307,800  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 307,800 
  Prepaid expenses    12,432   -   -   -   -   12,432 
   Total     320,232   -   -   -   -   320,232 
 
 Restricted for: 
  Affordable housing    -   -   4,654,561   -   -   4,654,561 
  Public landscaping    -   881,527   -   -   -   881,527 
  Grant-funded programs    -   -   -   -   322,564   322,564 
  The Grove Park (CFD 2006-1)   -   -   -   -   352,339   352,339 
  Stormwater compliance    -   -   -   -   37,031   37,031 
  Neighborhood street lighting    -   -   -   -   62,903   62,903 
  Transportation    -   -   -   -   92,488   92,488 
   Total     -   881,527   4,654,561   -   867,325   6,403,413 
 
 Committed for: 
  Presley Settlement    -   -   -   -   107,916   107,916 
  Geological hazard prevention 
   and repair     -   -   -   -   33,184   33,184 
  Development impact    -   -   -   -   506,511   506,511 
   Total     -   -   -   -   647,611   647,611 
 
 Assigned for: 
  Next year’s budget    102,228   345,109   -   -   587,466   1,034,803 
  Capital projects    -   -   -   1,812,067   -   1,812,067 
   Total     534,538   345,109   -   1,812,067   587,466   2,864,870 
 
 Unassigned      5,337,685   -   -   -   (223,171)   5,114,514 
 
  Total Fund Balance   $ 5,760,145  $ 1,226,636  $ 4,654,561  $ 1,812,067  $ 1,879,231  $ 15,332,640 

 
 
On February 3, 2016 the City Council approved the assignment and appropriation of $389,895 in General 
Fund reserves arising from the surplus reported in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2015.  The purpose of 
this assignment was to address specific one-time capital and operational needs of the City that could not 
be addressed in the annual operating budget.  At June 30, 2019, the balance of this assignment was 
$36,393, which was rolled into next year’s budget for the specified City Council-authorized purposes. 
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14. EQUITY BALANCES, Continued 
 
Governmental Fund Balances, Continued 
 
On January 16, 2018 the City Council approved the assignment and appropriation of $299,000 in General 
Fund reserves arising from the surplus reported in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2017.  The purpose of 
this assignment was to address specific one-time capital and operational needs of the City that could not 
be addressed in the annual operating budget.  At June 30, 2019, the balance of this assignment was 
$65,835, which was rolled into next year’s budget for the specified City Council-authorized purposes. 
 
Net Position 
 
The restricted component of net position includes assets subject to constraints either (1) externally 
imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or (2) imposed 
by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  The restricted component of net 
position at June 30, 2019 for governmental activities includes:  
 
 Restricted for community and economic development:  
  Affordable housing   $ 10,166,742 
 Restricted for public works: 
  Public landscaping (CFD 2007-1)    881,527 
  Stormwater state mandate compliance    37,031 
  Neighborhood street lighting    62,903 
  Transportation    92,488 
 Restricted for general government: 
  Grant-funded programs    244,230 
 Restricted for parks and recreation: 
  The Grove Park (CFD 2006-1)    352,339 
 Restricted for public safety: 
  Grant-funded programs    78,334 
   Total restricted net position   $ 11,915,594  
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City of Clayton
Required Supplementary Information

For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Property taxes $2,368,500 $2,444,800 2,463,898$    19,098$              
Sales and use taxes 477,000       477,000       483,741        6,741                  
Business licenses 146,000       146,000       175,153        29,153                
Permits, licenses and fees 153,000       155,110       146,867        (8,243)                 
Fines, forfeitures and penalties 86,300         102,580       82,375          (20,205)               
Intergovernmental 93,300         103,830       111,473        7,643                  
Other in-lieu fees 164,330       164,330       164,331        1                         
Franchise fees 560,900       560,900       523,129        (37,771)               
Service charges 328,110       312,887       325,078        12,191                
Use of money and property 80,000         88,200         191,365        103,165              
Other revenue 11,750         18,500         33,541          15,041                

Total Revenues 4,469,190    4,574,137    4,700,951     126,814              

EXPENDITURES

Current:
General government 1,297,000    1,297,000    1,297,303     (303)                    
Public works 290,830       283,830       304,552        (20,722)               
Parks and recreation services 406,960       406,960       375,087        31,873                
Community and economic development 325,840       325,840       336,242        (10,402)               
Public safety 2,266,590    2,266,590    2,214,359     52,231                

Capital Outlay -              -              94,787          (94,787)               
Total Expenditures 4,587,220    4,580,220    4,622,330     (42,110)               

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (118,030)     (6,083)         78,621          84,704                

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 111,460       115,053       115,053        -                      
Transfers out -              -              (100,000)      (100,000)             

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 111,460       115,053       15,053          (100,000)             

Change in fund balance (6,570)$        108,970$      93,674          (15,296)$             

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 5,666,471     

End of year 5,760,145$    

Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
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City of Clayton
Required Supplementary Information

For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Special parcel tax 1,121,746$    1,121,746$    1,121,738$     (8)$                   
Use of money and property 15,000          15,000          42,112           27,112             

Total Revenues 1,136,746     1,136,746     1,163,850      27,104             

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Public works 1,050,060     1,050,060     885,114         164,946           

Capital Outlay 487,157        487,157        218,076         269,081           
Total Expenditures 1,537,217     1,537,217     1,103,190      434,027           

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (400,471)       (400,471)       60,660           461,131           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (38,308)         (38,308)         (37,258)          1,050               
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (38,308)         (38,308)         (37,258)          1,050               

Change in fund balance (438,779)$      (438,779)$      23,402           462,181$          

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 1,203,234      

End of year 1,226,636$     

Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Landscape Maintenance District
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
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City of Clayton
Required Supplementary Information

For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Program income 96,400$       96,400$       96,400$           -$                 
Use of money and property 10,000        10,000        47,361            37,361             

Total Revenues 106,400      106,400      143,761          37,361             

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Community and economic development 58,355        58,355        15,921            42,434             

Total Expenditures 58,355        58,355        15,921            42,434             

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 48,045        48,045        127,840          79,795             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Unrealized gains (losses) -                  -                  (214,727)         (214,727)         
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                  -                  (214,727)         (214,727)         

Change in fund balance 48,045$       48,045$       (86,887)           (134,932)$        

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 4,765,562       

End of year 4,678,675$      

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Successor Housing Agency
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City of Clayton
Required Supplementary Information

For the year ended June 30, 2019

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Measurement Date 6/30/2014 6/30/2015 6/30/2016 6/30/2017 6/30/2018

Plan’s Proportion of the Net Pension Liability/(Asset) 0.030626% 0.052357% 0.051003% 0.049420% 0.048490%

Plan’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability/(Asset)  $   3,693,394 3,593,771$    4,413,357$    4,901,330$    4,672,754$    

Plan’s Covered-Employee Payroll** 1,963,054$    1,706,509$    1,820,066$    1,931,042$    1,995,400$    

Plan’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability/(Asset) 
as a Percentage of its Covered-Employee Payroll 188.145% 210.592% 242.483% 253.818% 234.176%

Plan’s Proportionate Share of the Fiduciary Net Position as a 
Percentage of the Plan’s Total Pension Liability 77.597% 78.40% 74.06% 73.86% 76.24%

** For the year ending on the measurement date.

* Fiscal year ending June 30, 2015 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only five years are shown.

Fiscal Year Ending June 30*

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Last 10 Years*
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City of Clayton
Required Supplementary Information

For the year ended June 30, 2019

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Actuarially determined contributions* 375,647$             530,677$             573,677$             612,898$             530,067$             

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
determined contribution 375,647               530,677               573,677               612,898               530,067               

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Covered-employee payroll** 1,706,509$          1,820,066$          1,931,042$          1,995,400$          2,016,021$          

Contributions as a percentage of covered
employee payroll 22.01% 29.16% 29.71% 30.72% 26.29%

* Excludes employer-paid member contributions (EPMC) 
** For the fiscal year ending on the date shown

Notes to Schedule:
Valuation Date: June 30, 2018

Key methods and assumptions used to 
determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal cost method
Discount rate
Salary growth
Overall payroll growth 3.00%
Inflation 2.75%
Service retirement

Schedule of Pension Plan Contributions
Last 10 Years*

* Fiscal year ending June 30, 2015 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only five years are shown.

7.375% (net of expenses)

Retirement rates vary by age, service and formula.

June 30

Varies by category, entry age, and duration of service.
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Fiscal Year 
Ended 

June 30, 2018
Fiscal Year Ended 

June 30, 2019

Measurement Date 6/29/2018 6/29/2019

Total OPEB Liability:
Total OPEB liability - Beginning 464,490$             545,327$               
Changes recognized for the measurement period:

Service cost 27,530                 28,428                   
Interest on total OPEB liability 15,800                 15,783                   
Changes of benefit terms 45,605                 -                         
Difference between expected and actual experience 22,654                 -                         
Changes of assumptions and other inputs 16,307                 9,159                     
Employer contributions -                       -                         
Active and inactive employee contributions -                       -                         
Net investment income -                       -                         
Benefit payments1 (30,226)                (31,408)                  
Administrative expenses -                       -                         
Other changes (16,833)                2,827                     

Net change in total OPEB liability 80,837                 24,789                   
Total OPEB liability - Ending 545,327               570,116                 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position:
Plan fiduciary net position - Beginning -                       -                         

Plan fiduciary net position - Ending2 -                       -                         

Net OPEB Liability - Ending 545,327$             570,116$               

Plan Fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total OPEB liability 0.00% 0.00%

Covered-employee payroll 1,995,400$          2,016,021$            

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered
employee payroll 27.33% 28.28%

* Fiscal year ending June 30, 2018 was the 1st year of implementation, 
therefore only two years of information is shown.

1 Includes the implicit rate subsidy.
2 As of the year ended June 30, 2019 the City had not established an 

irrivocable trust for payment of OPEB plan benefits.

Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
Last 10 Years*
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Required Supplementary Information

For the year ended June 30, 2019

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

June 30, 2018

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

June 30, 2019

Actuarially determined contributions (ADC)1 -$                         -$                         

Contributions in relation to the ADC -                           -                           

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                         -$                         

Covered-employee payroll2 1,995,400$          2,016,021$          

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 0.00% 0.00%

* Fiscal year ending June 30, 2018 was the 1st year of implementation, 
therefore only two years of information is shown.

1 As of the year ended June 30, 2019 the City had not established an 

irrivocable trust for payment of OPEB plan benefits.
2 For the fiscal year ending on the date shown

Schedule of OPEB Plan Contributions
Last 10 Years*
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City of Clayton 
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information 

For the year ended June 30, 2018 
 

 
 

 

1. BUDGETARY PRINCIPLES  
 
The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements:  
 

 By June 30, the City Manager submits to the City Council a proposed operating budget for the 
year commencing July 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means 
of financing them. Continuing appropriations are re-budgeted by the City Council as part of the 
adoption of subsequent year's budgets.  

 
 Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.  

 
 The budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution during a City Council meeting in 

the month of June. 
 
 The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within an activity, within any fund; 

however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund must be approved by the City 
Council.  

 
 Formal budgeting is employed as a management control device during the year for the general, 

certain special revenue and debt service funds. The Presley Settlement, Stormwater Treatment 
District Assessment, and Clayton Development Impact Fees funds are not budgeted for and thus 
do not have budget to actual comparison statements. 

 
 Budgets for the general, certain special revenue and debt service funds are adopted on a basis 

consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (US GAAP).  
 

 Budgets for capital projects funds are adopted on a project-life basis.  
 
Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted or as amended by the City Council. Budget amendments 
were not material in relation to the original appropriations.  
 
 
2. PENSION AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

This information is intended to help users assess the City’s Pension and Other Postemployment Benefits 
(OPEB) plan’s status on a going-concern basis, assess progress made in accumulating assets to pay 
benefits when due, and make comparisons with other public employers. 
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Major Governmental Fund Budgetary Comparison Schedule
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Intergovernmental 1,041,553$   991,553$      480,488$        (511,065)$        
Program income -              -              50,000           50,000             
Use of money and property -              -              57,016           57,016             

Total Revenues 1,041,553    991,553      587,504         (404,049)         

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay 2,746,513    2,856,513    1,772,407      1,084,106        

Total Expenditures 2,746,513      2,856,513      1,772,407       1,084,106          

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (1,704,960)  (1,864,960)  (1,184,903)     680,057           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 1,445,852    1,550,852    1,146,118      (404,734)         
Transfers out -              -              -                 -                  

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,445,852    1,550,852    1,146,118      (404,734)         

Change in fund balance (259,108)$    (314,108)$    (38,785)          275,323$          

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 1,850,852      

End of year 1,812,067$     

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Capital Improvement Program
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NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

 
Non-Major Special Revenue Funds:  
 

Development Impact Fees - Accounts for projects funded with the development impact fees. 
 

Gas Tax HUTA - Accounts for taxes raised under Street and Highway Code Sections 2106, 2107 and 
2107.5, used for the maintenance and construction of City streets.  
 
Gas Tax RMRA - Accounts for taxes raised under Road Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account 
(SB1), used for the maintenance and construction of City streets.  
 
Grants - Accounts for grants received for specific programs and projects.  

 
The Grove Park District - Accounts for voter-approved real property special parcel taxes restricted 
for the operation, maintenance, repair and replacement landscaping, irrigation, hardscaping, 
lighting, public restroom, gazebo, and playground equipment for “The Grove Park” in the 
downtown area. 
 
Measure J - Accounts for a $0.05 sales tax extended by voters in 2004 to provide transportation and 
street improvements, a growth management process, and a regional planning process to address 
quality of life issues. A portion of their county wide voter-approved tax is returned to local 
governments. 
 
Neighborhood Street Lighting District - Accounts for assessments collected to maintain residential 
street lighting within the defined benefit assessment district boundaries.  

 
Oakhurst Geological Hazard Abatement District - Accounts for voter-approved real property 
assessments collected from Oakhurst parcels to provide preventive maintenance measures and to 
mitigate potential landslides and other hazardous geological conditions within the benefit 
assessment district boundaries.  
 
Presley Settlement - Accounts for litigation settlement proceeds restricted for specific programs and 
projects. 
 
Stormwater Assessment District - Accounts for real property assessments collected to comply with 
the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES).  
 
Stormwater Treatment Assessment District - This fund was formed to provide a mechanism for the 
levying of private development (property) benefit assessments to fund the cost of inspections, 
maintenance and capital improvements related to the stormwater treatment requirements imposed 
upon the City by the Regional Water Quality Control Board as part of the City's General Stormwater 
Discharge Permit. 
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Combining Balance Sheets - Non-major Governmental Funds
June 30, 2019

The Grove
Development Gas Tax Gas Tax Park
Impact Fees HUTA RMRA Grants District

ASSETS
Cash and investments 559,457$      286,495$      175,993$      356,300$       364,918$      
Accounts receivable -                -               19,652 4,774 -               

Total Assets 559,457$      286,495$      195,645$      361,074$       364,918$      

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable 12,036$        18,800$        -$              4,219$           12,579$        
Other payables -                -               -               -                 -               
Due to other funds -                -               -               -                 -               
Advance from other funds 2,580 -               -               -                 -               

Total Liabilities 14,616          18,800         -               4,219             12,579         

Fund Balance:
Restricted -                65,790         26,698         322,564         352,339       
Committed 506,511        -               -               -                 -               
Assigned 38,330          201,905       168,947       34,291           -               
Unassigned -                -               -               -                 -               

Total Fund Balance 544,841        267,695       195,645       356,855         352,339       

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows 
of Resources and Fund Balances 559,457$      286,495$      195,645$      361,074$       364,918$      

Special Revenue
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Combining Balance Sheets - Non-major Governmental Funds
June 30, 2019

Oakhurst
Geological Stormwater 

Neighborhood Hazard Treatment Total Other
Street Lighting Abatement Presley Stormwater Assessment Governmental

Measure J District District Settlement Assessment District Funds

-$                   103,203$       50,800$         107,916$      31,506$        -$               2,036,588$      
70,211 -                 -                 -               60,980 -                155,617           

70,211$         103,203$       50,800$         107,916$      92,486$        -$               2,192,205$      

-$               6,651$           13,061$         -$              4,500$          -$               71,846$          
-                 -                 -                 -               -               -                -                      

235,998 -                 -                 -               -               2,550 238,548           
-                 -                 -                 -               -               -                2,580              

235,998         6,651             13,061           -               4,500           2,550           312,974           

-                 62,903           -                 -               37,031         -                867,325           
-                 -                 33,184           107,916       -               -                647,611           

54,834           33,649           4,555             -               50,955         -                587,466           
(220,621)        -                 -                 -               -               (2,550)          (223,171)          

(165,787)        96,552           37,739           107,916       87,986         (2,550)          1,879,231        

70,211$         103,203$       50,800$         107,916$      92,486$        -$                   2,192,205$      

Special Revenue
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Non-major Governmental Funds - For the year ended June 30, 2019

The Grove
Development Gas Tax Gas Tax Park
Impact Fees HUTA RMRA Grants District

REVENUES
Special parcel taxes and assessments -$              37,761$        -$              -$               134,273$      
Permits, licenses and fees 1,800            -               -               -                 2,524
Intergovernmental -                241,412 205,968 170,953 -               
Use of money and property 18,410 10,396 2,430 13,320 11,264
Other revenue -                1,182           -               -                 1,000

Total Revenues 20,210          290,751       208,398       184,273         149,061       

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government -                -               -               20,670 -               
Public works -                146,756 -               -                 -               
Parks and recreation services -                -               -               -                 102,179
Community and economic development -                -               -               -                 -               
Public safety -                -               -               150,980 -               

Capital outlay -                -               -               54,747 817

Total Expenditures -                146,756       -               226,397         102,996       

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 20,210          143,995       208,398       (42,124)          46,065         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in -                -               -               -                 -               
Transfers out -                (188,853)      (64,355)        -                 (7,574)          

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                (188,853)      (64,355)        -                 (7,574)          

Net change in fund balances 20,210          (44,858)        144,043       (42,124)          38,491         

FUND BALANCES

Beginning of year 524,631 312,553 51,602 398,979 313,848

End of year 544,841$      267,695$      195,645$      356,855$       352,339$      

Special Revenue
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Non-major Governmental Funds - For the year ended June 30, 2019

Oakhurst
Geological Stormwater 

Neighborhood Hazard Treatment Total Other
Street Lighting Abatement Presley Stormwater Assessment Governmental

Measure J District District Settlement Assessment District Funds

-$               125,991$       41,064$         -$              85,572$        -$              424,661$         
-                 -                 -                 -               61,051 -               65,375             

102,234 -                 -                 -               -               -               720,567           
6,324 3,464 1,236 3,637 1,475 -               71,956             

-                 -                 -                 -               -               -               2,182               

108,558         129,455         42,300           3,637           148,098       -               1,284,741        

-                 -                 -                 -               -               -               20,670             
25,940 122,515 25,177 -               111,575 -               431,963           

-                 -                 -                 -               -               -               102,179           
-                 -                 -                 -               -               -               -                   
-                 -                 -                 -               -               -               150,980           
-                 -                 5,944 -               -               -               61,508             

25,940           122,515         31,121           -               111,575       -               767,300           

82,618           6,940             11,179           3,637           36,523         -               517,441           

-                 -                 -                 -               -               -               -                   
(905,294)        (11,912)          (7,478)            -               (38,447)        -               (1,223,913)       

(905,294)        (11,912)          (7,478)            -               (38,447)        -               (1,223,913)       

(822,676)        (4,972)            3,701             3,637           (1,924)          -               (706,472)          

656,889 101,524 34,038 104,279 89,910 (2,550)          2,585,703        

(165,787)$      96,552$         37,739$         107,916$      87,986$        (2,550)$         1,879,231$      

Special Revenue
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Non-Major Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Permits, licenses and fees -$              -$              1,800$           1,800$              
Use of money and property 8,000           8,000           18,410           10,410             

Total Revenues 8,000           8,000           20,210           12,210             

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Public safety -               -               -                     -                       

Capital Outlay 48,000         48,000         -                     48,000             

Total Expenditures 48,000           48,000           -                     48,000               

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (40,000)        (40,000)        20,210           60,210             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (16,995)        (16,995)        -                     16,995             
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (16,995)        (16,995)        -                     16,995             

Change in fund balance (56,995)$       (56,995)$       20,210           77,205$            

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 524,631         

End of year 544,841$       

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Development Impact Fees
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Non-Major Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Special parcel taxes and assessments 36,700$        36,700$        37,761$         1,061$              
Intergovernmental 253,304       253,304       241,412         (11,892)            
Use of money and property 3,000           3,000           10,396           7,396               
Other revenue -                   -                   1,182             1,182               

Total Revenues 293,004       293,004       290,751         (2,253)              

EXPENDITURES

Public works 162,510       162,510       146,756         15,754             

Total Expenditures 162,510         162,510         146,756         15,754               

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 130,494       130,494       143,995         13,501             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (451,395)      (451,395)      (188,853)        262,542           
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (451,395)      (451,395)      (188,853)        262,542           

Change in fund balance (320,901)$     (320,901)$     (44,858)          276,043$          

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 312,553         

End of year 267,695$       

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Gas Tax HUTA
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Non-Major Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Intergovernmental -$                  -$                  205,968$       205,968$          
Use of money and property -                   3,500           2,430            (1,070)              

Total Revenues -                   3,500           208,398        204,898           

EXPENDITURES

Public works 189,383       -                   -                    -                       

Total Expenditures 189,383         -                     -                     -                         

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (189,383)      3,500           208,398        204,898           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out 254,238       -                   (64,355)         (64,355)            
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 254,238       -                   (64,355)         (64,355)            

Change in fund balance 64,855$        3,500$          144,043        140,543$          

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 51,602          

End of year 195,645$       

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Gas Tax RMRA
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Non-Major Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Intergovernmental 117,500$      117,500$      170,953$       53,453$            
Use of money and property 4,000           4,000           13,320          9,320               

Total Revenues 121,500       121,500       184,273        62,773             

EXPENDITURES

Current:
General government -                 -                 20,670          (20,670)            
Public safety 147,590       -                 150,980        (150,980)          

Capital outlay 75,993         117,772       54,747          63,025             

Total Expenditures 223,583         117,772         226,397         (108,625)            

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (102,083)      3,728           (42,124)         (45,852)            

Change in fund balance (102,083)$     3,728$          (42,124)         (45,852)$           

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 398,979        

End of year 356,855$       

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Grants
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Non-Major Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Special parcel taxes and assessments 134,190$      134,190$      134,273$       83$                   
Permits, licenses and fees 2,500           2,500           2,524             24                    
Use of money and property 3,800           3,800           11,264           7,464               
Other revenue -               -               1,000             1,000               

Total Revenues 140,490       140,490       149,061         8,571               

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Parks and recreation services 124,590       124,590       102,179         22,411             

Capital Outlay -               -               817                (817)                 
Total Expenditures 124,590       124,590       102,996         21,594             

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 15,900         15,900         46,065           30,165             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (7,574)          (7,574)          (7,574)            -                   
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (7,574)          (7,574)          (7,574)            -                   

Change in fund balance 8,326$          8,326$          38,491           30,165$            

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 313,848         

End of year 352,339$       

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - The Grove Park District
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Non-Major Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Intergovernmental 317,676$      317,676$      102,234$       (215,442)$         
Use of money and property 1,000           1,000           6,324            5,324               

Total Revenues 318,676       318,676       108,558        (210,118)          

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Public works 32,000         32,000         25,940          6,060               

Total Expenditures 32,000           32,000           25,940           6,060                 

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 286,676       286,676       82,618          (204,058)          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (905,294)      (905,294)      (905,294)       -                       
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (905,294)      (905,294)      (905,294)       -                       

Change in fund balance (618,618)$     (618,618)$     (822,676)       (204,058)$         

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 656,889        

End of year (165,787)$      

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Measure J
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Non-Major Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Special parcel taxes and assessments 125,991$      125,991$      125,991$       -$             
Use of money and property 1,000           1,000           3,464            2,464           

Total Revenues 126,991       126,991       129,455        2,464           

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Public works 139,680       139,680       122,515        17,165         

Total Expenditures 139,680         139,680         122,515         17,165           

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (12,689)       (12,689)       6,940            19,629         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (11,912)       (11,912)       (11,912)        -              
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (11,912)       (11,912)       (11,912)        -              

Change in fund balance (24,601)$      (24,601)$      (4,972)          19,629$        

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 101,524        

End of year 96,552$         

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Neighborhood Street Lighting District
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Non-Major Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Special parcel taxes and assessments 41,065$        41,065$        41,064$         (1)$                    
Use of money and property 200              200              1,236            1,036               

Total Revenues 41,265         41,265         42,300          1,035               

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Public works 18,350         18,350         25,177          (6,827)              

Capital outlay 50,642         50,642         5,944            44,698             

Total Expenditures 68,992           68,992           31,121           37,871               

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (27,727)        (27,727)        11,179          38,906             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (7,478)          (7,478)          (7,478)           -                   
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (7,478)          (7,478)          (7,478)           -                   

Change in fund balance (35,205)$       (35,205)$       3,701            38,906$            

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 34,038          

End of year 37,739$         

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Oakhurst Geological Hazard and Abatement District
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Non-Major Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Use of money and property 1,500$          1,500$          3,637$           2,137$              
Total Revenues 1,500           1,500           3,637            2,137               

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Public works -               -               -                -                   

Capital outlay -               -               -                -                   

Total Expenditures -                 -                 -                 -                     

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 1,500           1,500           3,637            2,137               

Change in fund balance 1,500$          1,500$          3,637            2,137$              

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 104,279        

End of year 107,916$       

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Presley Settlement
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Non-Major Governmental Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Variance from
Final Budget

Adopted Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES

Special parcel taxes and assessments 86,627$        86,627$        85,572$         (1,055)$             
Permits, licenses and fees 58,360         58,360         61,051           2,691               
Use of money and property 1,000           1,000           1,475             475                  

Total Revenues 145,987       145,987       148,098         2,111               

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Public works 154,460       154,460       111,575         42,885             

Total Expenditures 154,460         154,460         111,575         42,885               

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (8,473)          (8,473)          36,523           44,996             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 1,040           1,040           -                 (1,040)              
Transfers out (38,447)        (38,447)        (38,447)          -                   

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (37,407)        (37,407)        (38,447)          (1,040)              

Change in fund balance (45,880)$       (45,880)$       (1,924)            43,956$            

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of year 89,910           

End of year 87,986$         

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Stormwater Assessment District
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 

 
Internal service funds account for activities that provide goods or services to other City funds or 
department on a cost reimbursement basis.  The following are the City’s internal service funds: 
 

Capital Equipment Replacement Fund (CERF) - This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, 
depreciation, and replacement of City vehicles and equipment. 
 
Self-Insurance Fund - This fund accounts for the administration of the City’s self-insurance program 
and payment of workers’ compensation and liability claims. 
 
Pension Rate Stabilization Fund - This fund stabilizes major fluctuations in annual employer 
pension costs driven by market factors and actuarial changes.   
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Combining Statement of Net Position - Internal Service Funds
June 30, 2019

Capital 
Equipment 

Replacement
Pension Rate 
Stabilization 

Self-
Insurance Total

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and investments 153,006$      274,551$      35,430$         462,987$      
Noncurrent assets:

Depreciable assets, net 490,299 -              -               490,299       

Total Asset 643,305       274,551       35,430          953,286       

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable -              -              -               -              

Total Liabilities -              -              -               -              

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 490,299       -              -               490,299       
Unrestricted 153,006       274,551       35,430          462,987       

Total Net Position 643,305$      274,551$      35,430$         953,286$      
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Internal Service Funds - For the year ended June 30, 2019

Capital 
Equipment 

Replacement
Pension Rate 
Stabilization 

Self-
Insurance Total

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for current services 88,820$        -$             -$              88,820$        

Total Operating Revenues 88,820         -              -               88,820         

OPERATING EXPENSES

General and administrative 272              -              3,988 4,260           
Depreciation and amortization 77,252         -              -               77,252         

Total Operating Expenses 77,524         -              3,988            81,512         

Operating Income (Loss) 11,296         -              (3,988)          7,308           

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets 30,924 -              -               30,924         
Investment income (loss) 5,040 6,691 1,300 13,031         

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 35,964         6,691           1,300            43,955         

Net (loss) Before Contributions and 47,260         6,691           (2,688)          51,263         
Operating Transfers

Capital contributions -              -              -               -              
Transfers in -              100,000 -               100,000       

Change in Net Position 47,260         106,691       (2,688)          151,263       

NET POSITION:

Beginning of fiscal year 596,045 167,860       38,118          802,023       

End of fiscal year 643,305$      274,551$      35,430$         953,286$      
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Combining Statement of Cash Flows - Internal Service Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Capital 
Equipment 

Replacement
Pension Rate 
Stabilization 

Self-
Insurance Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Receipts from customers 88,820$        -$              -$               88,820$        
Claims paid (272)             -               (4,248)            (4,520)          

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 88,548           -                 (4,248)            84,300           

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING
ACTIVITIES:

Transfers in -               100,000       -                 100,000       
Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing -               100,000       -                 100,000       

activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Acquisition of capital assets (128,289)      -               -                 (128,289)      
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets 30,924         -               -                 30,924         

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related (97,365)          -                 -                 (97,365)          
financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Interest received on investments 5,040           6,691           1,300             13,031         

Net Cash provided (used) by investing activities 5,040             6,691             1,300             13,031           

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,777)          106,691       (2,948)            99,966         

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

Beginning of fiscal year 156,783       167,860       38,378           363,021       

End of fiscal year 153,006$       274,551$       35,430$         462,987$       

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME 
(LOSS) TO NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating income (loss) 11,296$        -$              (3,988)$          7,308$          
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to 

net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 77,252         -               -                 77,252         
Changes in current assets and liabilities:

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable -               -               (260)               (260)             

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 88,548$         -$               (4,248)$          84,300$         
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AGENCY FUNDS 

 
Agency Funds are used to account for assets held by the City in a fiduciary capacity or as an 
agent for individuals, government entities and other non-public organizations.  The following are 
reported as agency funds: 
 

Clayton Financing Authority - Accounts for projects related to the Financing Authority.  
 

Clayton Financing Authority 2007 Refunding Bonds - Accounts for the refunding of the Authority's 
1997 Special Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds payable from revenues received by the Authority as the 
result of payment of debt service on the local obligations of the Middle School CFD 1990-1 Bonds. 
 
Deposits– Represents funds held for: performance deposits, Clayton Community Gym donation 
deposits, refundable rental security deposits, planning services deposits, engineering plan check 
deposits, and other various deposits. 
 
Diablo Estates Benefit Assessment District – Accounts for parcel owner approved real property 
assessments collected to maintain certain infrastructure components (including street lighting) for 
the Diablo Estates development. 
 
High Street Bridge Benefit Assessment District – Accounts for real property assessments collected 
to maintain bridges. 
 
Lydia Lane Sewer Benefit Assessment District – Accounts for real property assessments to be 
collected for construction of a sewer system. 
 
Middle School Community Facilities District – Accounts for special parcel taxes restricted to repay 
indebtedness of the Middle School Community Facilities District No. 1990-1. 

 
Oak Street Bridge Benefit Assessment District – Accounts for real property assessments collected to 
maintain bridges. 

 
Oak Street Sewer Benefit Assessment District – Accounts for real property assessments to be 
collected for construction of a sewer system. 
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities - Agency Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Balance 
July 1, 2018 Additions Deductions

Balance
June 30, 2019

Clayton Financing Authority

Assets:
Cash and investments 548,840$           19,143$        -$              567,983$           

Total Assets 548,840$           19,143$        -$              567,983$           

Liabilities:
Other liabilities 548,840$           19,143$        -$              567,983$           

Total Liabilities 548,840$           19,143$        -$              567,983$           

Clayton Financing Authority 2007 Refunding Bonds

Assets:
Cash and investments 121,506$           350,536$      (356,356)$     115,686$           
Cash with fiscal agent 385,198 406,381       (420,977)      370,602
Accounts receivable 44,610 -              (7,850)          36,760
Investment in bonds 2,058,000 383,000       (745,000)      1,696,000

Total Assets 2,609,314$         1,139,917$   (1,530,183)$ 2,219,048$         

Liabilities:
Other liabilities 709,314$           882,819$      (923,085)$     669,048$           
Due to bondholders 1,900,000 22,000         (372,000)      1,550,000

Total Liabilities 2,609,314$         904,819$      (1,295,085)$ 2,219,048$         

Deposits

Assets:
Cash and investments 838,321$           321,425$      (454,800)$     704,946$           

Total Assets 838,321$           321,425$      (454,800)$     704,946$           

Liabilities:
Deposits payable 838,321$           762,198       (895,573)      704,946$           

Total Liabilities 838,321$           762,198$      (895,573)$     704,946$           

Diablo Estates Benefit Assessment District

Assets:
Cash and investments 119,612$           89,791$        (58,175)$       151,228$           

Total Assets 119,612$           89,791$        (58,175)$       151,228$           

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 2,936$               59,505$        (55,864)$       6,577$               
Other liabilities 116,676 89,790         (61,815)        144,651

Total Liabilities 119,612$           149,295$      (117,679)$     151,228$           
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities - Agency Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Balance 
July 1, 2018 Additions Deductions

Balance
June 30, 2019

High Street Bridge Benefit Assessment District

Assets:
Cash and investments 5,930$               1,985$          (1,454)$         6,461$               
Assessments receivable 15,913 -              (5,257)          10,656

Total Assets 21,843$             1,985$          (6,711)$         17,117$             

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 5,930$               1,985$          (1,454)$         6,461$               
Notes payable 15,913 -              (5,257)          10,656

Total Liabilities 21,843$             1,985$          (6,711)$         17,117$             

Lydia Lane Sewer Benefit Assessment District

Assets:
Cash and investments 65,449$             19,069$        (17,249)$       67,269$             
Cash with fiscal agent 12,901 4,754          (4,530)          13,125
Assessments receivable 158,325 -              (5,000)          153,325

Total Assets 236,675$           23,823$        (26,779)$       233,719$           

Liabilities:
Other liabilities 78,350$             38,160$        (36,116)$       80,394$             
Due to bondholders 158,325 -              (5,000)          153,325

Total Liabilities 236,675$           38,160$        (41,116)$       233,719$           

Middle School Community Facilities District

Assets:
Cash and investments 320,614$           401,559$      (431,925)$     290,248$           
Assessments receivable 2,058,000 -              (362,000)      1,696,000

Total Assets 2,378,614$         401,559$      (793,925)$     1,986,248$         

Liabilities:
Other liabilities 320,614$           483,223$      (513,589)$     290,248$           
Due to bondholders 2,058,000 -              (362,000)      1,696,000

Total Liabilities 2,378,614$         483,223$      (875,589)$     1,986,248$         

Oak Street Bridge Benefit Assessment District

Assets:
Cash and investments 11,842$             6,652$          (4,517)$         13,977$             
Assessments receivable 3,958 -              (3,958)          -                     

Total Assets 15,800$             6,652$          (8,475)$         13,977$             

Liabilities:
Other liabilities 11,842$             6,652$          (4,517)$         13,977$             
Notes payable 3,958 -              (3,958)          -                     

Total Liabilities 15,800$             6,652$          (8,475)$         13,977$             
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City of Clayton
Supplementary Information

Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities - Agency Funds
For the year ended June 30, 2019

Balance 
July 1, 2018 Additions Deductions

Balance
June 30, 2019

Oak Street Sewer Benefit Assessment District

Assets:
Cash and investments 2,715$               11,545$        (11,978)$       2,282$               
Assessments receivable 89,028 -              (19,937)        69,091

Total Assets 91,743$             11,545$        (31,915)$       71,373$             

Liabilities:
Other liabilities 2,715 11,545$        (11,978)$       2,282
Notes payable 89,028 -              (19,937)        69,091

Total Liabilities 91,743$             11,545$        (31,915)$       71,373$             

Total - All Agency Funds

Assets:
Cash and investments 2,034,829$         1,221,705$   (1,336,454)$ 1,920,080$         
Cash with fiscal agent 398,099            411,135       (425,507)      383,727             
Assessments receivable 2,325,224         -              (396,152)      1,929,072          
Accounts receivable 44,610              -              (7,850)          36,760               
Investments in bonds 2,058,000         383,000       (745,000)      1,696,000          

Total Assets 6,860,762$         2,015,840$   (2,910,963)$ 5,965,639$         

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 8,866$               61,490$        (57,318)$       13,038$             
Other liabilities 1,788,351         1,531,332    (1,551,100)  1,768,583          
Deposits payable 838,321            762,198       (895,573)      704,946             
Notes payable 108,899            -              (29,152)        79,747               
Due to bondholders 4,116,325         22,000         (739,000)      3,399,325          

Total Liabilities 6,860,762$         2,377,020$   (3,272,143)$ 5,965,639$         
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 

REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE  

WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 

To the City Council 

City of Clayton, California 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 

activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 

the City of Clayton, California, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the 

financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Clayton’s basic financial statements, and 

have issued our report thereon dated January 15, 2020.

 

 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Clayton’s 

internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Clayton’s internal 

control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Clayton’s internal 

control. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 

section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 

deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 

weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 

detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 

combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 

misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 

timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 

that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 

with governance.  

Please refer to the letter to the Council dated January 15, 2020 for a list of the deficiencies that we 

consider to be significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

Compliance and Other Matters

 

 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Clayton’s financial statements are 

free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 

regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 

effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on 

compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express 
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such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that 

are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report

 

 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 

compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

City’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 

accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 

compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

 

 

 

CROPPER ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 

Walnut Creek, California 

January 15, 2020 
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January 15, 2020 
The City Council 
City of Clayton, California 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Clayton for the year ended 
June 30, 2019. Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our 
responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards (and, if applicable, Government Auditing 
Standards and the Uniform Guidance), as well as certain information related to the planned scope and 
timing of our audit. We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated January 15, 2020. 
Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our 
audit. 
Significant Audit Matters 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices  

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by City of Clayton are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. The new 
accounting policies that were adopted and the application of existing policies was changed during 2019 
are discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements. We noted no transactions entered into by City of 
Clayton during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant 
transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about 
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the City of Clayton’s financial 
statements were:  

 Management’s estimate of the liabilities, deferred inflows, and deferred outflows of both 
pension (Note 11) and OPEB (Note 12), which are based on the assumptions and methods 
used by the actuaries in determining the balances. We evaluated the key factors and 
assumptions used to develop the estimates in determining that they are reasonable in 
relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

 GASB No. 72 was implemented during the year ended June 30, 2016 and requires that 
investments be recorded at fair value. The valuation of municipal bonds held by the 
fiduciary funds uses Level 3 inputs which approximates cost. See Notes 1 and 2 of the 
financial statements.  

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were: 

 The disclosure of the Defined Benefit Pension Plan in Note 11 to the financial statements. 

 The disclosure of the Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) in Note 12 to the 
financial statements. 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.  
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Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit  

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing 
our audit. 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements  

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. The attached schedule summarizes uncorrected misstatements of the financial statements. 
Management has determined that their effects are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to 
the financial statements taken as a whole. 
The attached material misstatements were corrected by management and were detected as a result of 
audit procedures or were booked by management after the audit began: 
Disagreements with Management  

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 
Management Representations  

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated January 15, 2020. 
Management Consultations with Other Independent  
Other Audit Findings or Issues  

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as City of Clayton’s auditors. However, 
these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were 
not a condition to our retention. 
Other Matters 
We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information which is listed in the 
table of contents to the financial statements, which is required supplementary information (RSI) that 
supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management 
regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express 
an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.  
We were not engaged to report on other supplementary information, which accompany the financial 
statements but are not RSI. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied 
in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on it.  
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Restriction on Use 
This information is intended solely for the information and use of the City Council and management of 
the City of Clayton and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 
Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
 
CROPPER ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
Walnut Creek, California 
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Client:  City of Clayton     
Period Ending: June 30, 2019     

Account Description   Debit  Credit 
    

Corrected Material Journal Entries   
Adjusting Journal Entry JE # 1   
Client Accommodation Entry: Reclassification of receivables.   

101-1300-00 Accounts Receivable Accruals  188,690.64 
216-1300-00 Accounts Receivable Accruals  55,478.10 
Other funds Accounts Receivable Accruals  23,428.96
101-1303-00 Accounts Receivable   188,690.64 
216-1303-00 Accounts Receivable   55,478.10 
Other funds Accounts Receivable   23,428.96 

Total   267,597.70 267,597.70 
    

Adjusting Journal Entry JE # 4   
Client Accommodation Entry: Book GASB 31 investment entry.   

101-1203-00 Allowance for GASB31 Gain/Loss  89,698.23 
Other funds Allowance for GASB31 Gain/Loss  114,289.81 
101-5606-00 Unrealized Inv. Gain/Loss   89,698.23 
Other funds Unrealized Inv. Gain/Loss   114,289.81

Total   203,988.04 203,988.04 
    

Adjusting Journal Entry JE # 6   
BR: Adjust Stranahan loan balances to actual.   

616-8500-00 Extraordinary Loss/(Gain)  71,271.37 
616-1361-00 Notes Receivable-StranahanIIMo   71,271.37 

Total   71,271.37 71,271.37 
    

Adjusting Journal Entry JE # 9   
Client Accommodation Entry: Record CY Fixed Asset activity   

502-1504-00 Vehicles, Machinery, and Equipment  2,500.00 
502-7390-00 Depreciation Expense  79,751.78 
702-7390-00 Depreciation Expense  36,999.56 
801-1502-00 Fixed Assets Building  266,404.49 
801-1506-00 Construction in Progress  1,729,570.15 
801-1507-00 Infrastructure  833,727.14 
801-3220-00 Investment in General Fixed Assets  966,410.41 
502-1505-00 Accumulated Depreciation   79,751.78 
502-7390-00 Depreciation Expense   2,500.00 
702-1505-00 Accumulated Depreciation   36,999.56 
801-1505-00 Accumulated Depreciation   966,410.32 
801-1506-00 Construction in Progress   1,100,131.63 
801-3220-00 Investment in General Fixed Assets   1,729,570.24 

Total   3,915,363.53 3,915,363.53 
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Adjusting Journal Entry JE # 10   
Client Accommodation Entry: Year-end closing of accounts performed after TB provided to the 
auditor.   

802-1510-00 Amount Provided for LT OPEB Liability  24,789.00 
802-2206-00 PERS Liability  228,576.00 
802-1512-00 Amount Provided for Unfunded Pension Liability   228,576.00 
802-2407-00 LT OPEB Liability   24,789.00 

Total   253,365.00 253,365.00 
    

Adjusting Journal Entry JE # 11   
Client Accommodation Entry: Book CY Interest and Notes activity   

101-5601-00 Interest  11,983.21 
222-7612-00 Interest Expense  2,948.00 
420-2803-00 CFD 1990-1R (Middle School ) Local Obligations Payable  362,000.00 
422-2102-00 Accrued Interest Payable  41,433.64 
422-5815-00 Interest on Loans/Bonds  7,850.00 
615-2102-00 Accrued Interest Payable  3,830.00 
615-2802-00 2014 Refunding Bonds Payable  15,000.00 
101-1305-00 Accrued Interest Receivable   11,983.21 
222-2101-00 Accounts Payable   2,948.00 
420-1304-00 Assessments Receivable   362,000.00 
422-1305-00 Accrued Interest Receivable   7,850.00 
422-7612-00 Interest Expense   41,433.64 
615-2108-00 Current Portion of LTD   15,000.00 
615-7612-00 Interest Expense   3,830.00 

Total   445,044.85 445,044.85 
    

Adjusting Journal Entry JE # 12   
Client Accommodation Entry: Reclassifications   

101-1303-00 Accounts Receivable  5,833.00 
303-1199-00 Equity in Pooled Cash  50,000.00 
502-5801-00 Sale of Assets  311.84 
601-2736-00 Community Action  50,000.00 
601-2744-00 Stormwater Inspection Deposits  12.75 
601-2745-00 Construction and Demolition  12,023.54 
101-1300-00 Accounts Receivable Accruals   5,833.00 
303-5805-00 Project Revenue   50,000.00 
502-1199-00 Equity in Pooled Cash   311.84 
601-1199-00 Equity in Pooled Cash   62,036.29 

Total   118,181.13 118,181.13 
    

Adjusting Journal Entry JE # 13   
Client Accommodation Entry: Book current year Stranahan valuation.   

616-5606-00 Unrealized Inv. Gain/Loss  157,155.00 
616-1255-00 Equity Investment in Low-Moderate Income Housing   157,155.00 

Total   157,155.00 157,155.00 
    

FI
N

AL
 D

R
AF

T 
01

/1
7/

20
20



 

Page 6 of 7 
 

Adjusting Journal Entry JE # 19   
Client Accommodation Entry: Record the reduction in note receivable and deferred revenue for 
Diamond Terrace.   

616-2721-00 Deferred Revenue  96,400.00 
616-1362-00 Note Receivable P.A.M.   96,400.00 

Total   96,400.00 96,400.00 
    

Adjusting Journal Entry JE # 20   
Client Accommodation Entry: Record Harris invoices.   

101-1199-00 Equity in Pooled Cash  346.50 
101-1303-00 Accounts Receivable  24,731.47 
101-7341-03 Buildings/Grounds Maintenance  187.46 
101-7419-08 Other Professional Services  570.00 
101-7430-08 Well Monitoring Svc Charge  8,252.50 
210-7520-00 Project Program Costs  20,725.00 
212-7412-00 Engineering/Inspection Service  1,330.00 
230-7419-00 Other Professional Services  380.00 
231-7419-00 Other Professional Services  1,520.00 
303-7552-00 Project Costs-Construction/Execution  2,495.00 
303-7553-00 Project Costs-Monitoring/Inspections  17,657.50 
303-7554-00 Project Costs-Close-out/Punch List  5,770.00 
601-2740-00 Planning Services Deposit  1,012.00 
601-2741-00 Engineering Services Deposit  253.00 
601-2743-00 Non-Stormwater Inspection Deposits  885.50 
601-2744-00 Stormwater Inspection Deposits  506.00 
101-2101-00 Accounts Payable   30,515.59 
101-5791-00 Overhead Cost Recovery   3,572.34 
210-2101-00 Accounts Payable   20,725.00 
212-2101-00 Accounts Payable   1,330.00 
230-2101-00 Accounts Payable   380.00 
231-2101-00 Accounts Payable   1,520.00 
303-2101-00 Accounts Payable   25,922.50 
601-1199-00 Equity in Pooled Cash   346.50 
601-2101-00 Accounts Payable   2,310.00 

Total   86,621.93 86,621.93 
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Client:  City of Clayton 
Period Ending: June 30, 2019 

Account Description  Debit  Credit 
          
  

Uncorrected Journal Entries 
Proposed Journal Entries JE # 5 
BR: Adjust Investment accounts to market and book accrued interest

101-1203-00 Allowance for GASB31 Gain/Loss 34.77 
101-1305-00 Accrued Interest Receivable 163.33 
101-5606-00 Unrealized Inv. Gain/Loss 80.63 
101-1203-00 Allowance for GASB31 Gain/Loss 80.63 
101-5606-00 Unrealized Inv. Gain/Loss 34.77 
101-5606-00 Unrealized Inv. Gain/Loss 163.33 

Total  278.73 278.73 

  
Proposed Journal Entries JE # 16 
BM: Doubt of collectability of Oakhurst receivable 

101-9CAC-00 Bad debt expense 24,524.36 
101-13CAC-00 Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 24,524.36 

Total  24,524.36 24,524.36 

  
Proposed Journal Entries JE # 21 
BR: Book accrued interest and the related allowance for doubtful accounts.

616-1305-00 Accrued interest receivable 24,114.04 
Fund 616 Bad debt expense 24,114.04 
Fund 616 Allowance for doubtful accounts 24,114.04 

616-5601-00 Interest 24,114.04 
Total  48,228.08 48,228.08 
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AGENDA REPORT 
 

TO:  Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 
 
FROM: Ikani Taumoepeau, City Manager 
 
DATE:  January 21, 2020 
   
SUBJECT: Discuss and Consider Opposing Senate Bill 50 Regarding Planning, 

Zoning, and Housing Development Incentives. 

Presenter:  Jeff Wan, Vice Mayor 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Discuss and consider opposing Senate Bill 50 (SB 50) regarding planning, zoning, and 
housing development incentives. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Local governments typically have the right to exercise control over what gets built in their 
community.  Local officials weigh the need for additional housing against the concerns and 
desires of their constituents.  Where appropriate, those officials enact ordinances to shape 
their communities based on local conditions and desires.  Moreover, these planning actions 
and decisions take place within the confines of state laws that require local governments to 
plan and zone for new housing, subject to approval by the California Department of Housing 
and Community Development (HCD), and under threat of fines for improper denial as a 
result of recent legislation.  
 
SB 50 would “upzone” (rezone for more intensive use) much of the land currently dedicated 
to single-family housing, allowing for developers to build duplexes, triplexes, or fourplexes. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None. 
 
Attachments:  - Draft Letter Opposing SB 50 

- Outline of SB 50 
   

 



Members of the CA Senate Appropriations Committee 
 
I write to you in regard to SB50 that was recently reintroduced in the legislature.  With minor changes that 
merely that pay lip service to local control – dramatically increased density and fourplexes by right - the 
worst parts of SB50 from the prior legislative session - are still in full effect.  An extension of time only delays 
the poor outcomes that SB50 hopes to achieve.  If SB50 were to pass, fourplexes would be allowed by right 
on any single family zoned property - that means that anyone could build a fourplex in any neighborhood 
that is currently zoned for single family. This would eliminate single family zoning everywhere in the state. 
 
SB 50 is poor public policy for several reasons:   
 

Undefined critical terms:  Any location that is determined to be job rich or near transit could receive 
waivers on parking, density, height, size, etc. And this would be on top of any waivers received as a 
result of the CA Density Bonus law which already undermine local control.  The definitions of being 
near transit would mean that a city’s zoning rules could change at the whim of outside transit 
authorities adjusting the timing of the buses.  In addition, the definition of “job rich” is sufficiently 
nebulous that most populated areas in the state could be included, even if they are nowhere near 
transit.  This is also true of “transportation efficiency” and “feasibly housing capacity”.   
 
Carve out Counties:  Exempting cities of populations less than 50,000, but only if they are in a county 
with a population of less than 600,000 makes no sense.  This provision would see cities of similar size 
be treated dramatically differently.  Carve outs for counties to secure votes is poor public policy. 
 
Duplicative processes:  It is unclear how the “local flexibility plan” that SB 50 contemplates interacts 
with the Housing Element process. Creating parallel rubrics for measuring housing is inefficient and 
will lead to duplicative work for cities and HUD. 

 
Ultimately, housing production requirements must target areas with greater job growth and should not take 
a one size fits all approach across California.  Housing shortages in CA will not be solved by forcing small cities 
like Clayton to upzone with limited to no parking, increased density, and little consideration for commutes.  
SB50 is a one size fits all cudgel to be used against small cities forcing them to subsidize the lack of housing 
being produced where jobs are being created.   
 
Please oppose SB50. 
 
Respectfully, 
 
 
 
CC: Senator Anthony J. Portantino 

Senator Patricia C. Bates (Vice Chair) 
Senator Steven Bradford 
Senator Maria Elena Durazo 
Senator Jerry Hill 
Senator Brian W. Jones 
Senator Bob Wieckowski 
Clayton City Council 

 Assembly Member Tim Grayson 
Senator Steve Glazer 

https://sd25.senate.ca.gov/
https://senate.ca.gov/sd36
https://senate.ca.gov/sd35
https://sd24.senate.ca.gov/
https://senate.ca.gov/sd13
https://senate.ca.gov/sd38
https://senate.ca.gov/sd10
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Outline of SB 50 (Wiener) Planning and Zonings. Housing Development Incentives. 
As Amended 01/06/2020 

 
Key Elements of SB 50 as Amended 01/06/2020 

o Allows developers of certain types of housing projects to override locally developed and 
adopted height limitations, housing densities, and parking requirements.  These overrides are 
called “equitable communities incentives (ECI).” [Please see pages 2-3 for more detail]. 

o SB 50’s requirements are applied differently based on city population and the population of the 
county in which the city is located.  

o Requires all cities to allow up to fourplexes in single-family neighborhoods through a 
streamlined, ministerial approval process unless project would have specific, adverse impact 
upon public health or safety. 

o Allows “sensitive communities” identified by councils of governments to develop a community 
plan, as prescribed, and not be required to grant an ECI as long as the “community plan” 
achieves similar objectives and goals. 

o Allows cities to develop a HCD-approved “local flexibility plan”, as an alternative to the 
requirements in SB 50. 

 
The “Local Flexibility Plan:” Amendments adopted on January 6, 2020 
The amendments offer an alternative:  Cities and counties can adopt a “local flexibility plan” approved 
by HCD by January 1, 2023 or be required to grant ECI overrides of density, height and parking) of SB 50.   
 
A “local flexibility plan” submitted on or after July 1, 2021 to HCD, must do all of the following: 

 Affirmatively further fair housing, as that term is defined in Section 8899.50, to an extent as 
great or greater than if the local government were to grant an ECI. 

 Achieve a standard of transportation efficiency as great or greater than if the local government 
were to grant an ECI. 

 Increase overall feasible housing capacity for households of lower, moderate, and above 
moderate incomes, considering economic factors such as cost of likely construction types, 
affordable housing requirements, and the impact of local development fees. 

 
On or before July 1, 2021, OPR, in consultation with HCD, will develop guidelines for the submission and 
approval of a local flexibility plan.  Rules, regulations and guidelines may be adopted with limited public 
process. 
 
A local flexibility plan is an alternative to granting an ECI.  A local flexibility plan does not exempt a city 
from ministerial approval of a fourplex in a single-family zone. 
 
Comments Regarding the Amendments Adopted on January 6, 2020 

 It appears that the intent of the amendments is to provide local governments with an 
opportunity to develop their own plans to meet the goals and objectives of SB 50.  
Unfortunately, the amendments, as drafted, raise the following concerns: 

o OPR and HCD are tasked with developing “rules, regulations, or guidelines for the 
submission and approval of a local flexibility plan” without sufficient Legislative 
direction. This rulemaking process is exempt from the Administrative Procedures Act, 
thus allowing OPR and HCD to craft rules, regulations, or guidelines with little to no 
public input or oversight. 
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o The elements of the plan are not clear:  “Achieve a standard of transportation 
efficiency as great or greater than if the local government were to grant equitable 
communities incentives.”  SB 50 does not contain any language regarding 
“transportation efficiency.”  Therefore, it is not possible to determine how HCD, OPR 
or a local government will determine how to meet this standard. 

o “Increase overall feasible housing capacity for households of lower, moderate, and 
above moderate incomes, considering economic factors such as cost of likely 
construction types, affordable housing requirements, and the impact of local 
development fees.” SB 50 does not contain any language regarding “feasible housing 
capacity for households of lower, moderate, and above moderate incomes,” nor does 
it address “economic factors such as cost of likely construction types, affordable 
housing requirements, and the impact of local development fees.” Therefore, it is not 
possible to determine how HCD, OPR or a local government will determine how to 
meet this standard. 

o Without clearly identified criteria, we are unable to evaluate whether the “local 
flexibility plan” is actually an alternative planning option. 

 
The Community Plan:  Sensitive Communities 
 
Unchanged by the amendments are SB 50’s alternative for “sensitive communities.”  Sensitive 
communities are determined by councils of governments (or by MTC in the ABAG region).  The ECI 
provisions of SB 50 will apply to a “sensitive community” after January 1, 2026 unless the community 
adopts a “community plan” aimed toward increasing residential density and multifamily housing choices 
near transit stops.  The community plan must: 
 

 Permit increased density and multifamily development near transit with all upzoning linked to 
onsite affordable housing requirements; 

 Include provisions to protect vulnerable residents from displacement; 

 Promote economic justice for workers and residents; and 

 Be developed in partnership with a nonprofit or community organization. 
 
Equitable Communities Incentives 
 
City must grant an Equitable Community Incentive (ECI) to “jobs-rich” or “transit-rich” project on a site 
zoned to allow housing with certain site exclusions as described below unless city makes finding that 
incentive would have a specific, adverse impact on any real property or historic district.  Project must 
comply with city’s conditional use or other discretionary permit approval process and with certain 
affordability requirements (or local inclusionary ordinance) and is subject to CEQA review.   
  
Counties with a population less than or equal to 600,000:  Cities with population OVER 50,000 

 Equitable Community Incentive to a jobs-rich or transit-rich housing project located within ½ 
mile of a major transit stop with a minimum density of 30 units/acre in “metropolitan” 
community or 20 units/acre in “suburban” community: 

o 1 additional story or fifteen feet in height. 
o Waiver of 0.6 Floor Area Ratio. 
o Maximum 0.5 parking spots per units; and no minimum parking requirement if within ¼ 

mile of rail transit station in city with population greater than 100,000. 
o Waiver of maximum controls density. 
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o Site exclusions:  architecturally or historically significant district; special flood hazard 
area. 

 Mandatory inclusionary housing requirements apply. 

 Existing Density Bonus Law may be applied to the project. 
 
Counties with a population over 600,000:  All cities (except those under 50,000 in the coastal zone)  

 Equitable Community Incentive to a jobs-rich or transit-rich housing project: 
o Waiver of maximum controls on density. 
o 0.5 parking spots per unit. 
o Within 1/2 mile of a major transit stop – height up to 45 feet, Floor Area Ratio of 2.5, 

and no parking requirements. 
o Within 1/4 mile of a major transit stop – height up to 55 feet , Floor Area Ration of 3.25, 

and no parking requirements. 

 Mandatory inclusionary housing requirements apply. 

 Existing Density Bonus Law may be applied to the project. 
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